

Regenerative agriculture

A contested open moment

Rikard Hedling



Regenerative agriculture. A contested open moment

Rikard Hedling

Supervisor: Nathan Clay, Stockholm University, Stockholm Resilience Centre

Examiner: Emil Sandström, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences,

Department of Urban and Rural Development

Credits: 30 credits

Level: Second cycle, A2E

Course title: Master thesis in Rural Development, A2E - Agriculture Programme

- Rural Development

Course code: EX0890

Programme/education: Agriculture Programme - Rural Development **Course coordinating dept:** Department of Urban and Rural Development

Place of publication: Uppsala Year of publication: 2022

Copyright: All featured images are used with permission from the copyright

owner

Online publication: https://stud.epsilon.slu.se

Keywords: Regenerative agriculture, Alternative Food Networks, Food

sovereignty, Political ecology, Discourse & Food systems

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Division of Rural Development

Abstract

Agriculture is both heavily impacted by climate change and responsible for greenhouse gas emissions causing climate change. Transitioning towards more sustainable agricultural practices is therefore imperative and requires new ways of thinking about agricultural knowledge and technologies. One rapidly emerging contender for how to transition to more sustainable agriculture is regenerative agriculture.

Regenerative agriculture is far from a new idea. It involves ancient and diverse practices such as minimizing tilling soil in favor of cover crops and mimicking how wild animals graze. Over the past five years, it has seen a renaissance with a growing number of different actors showing interest in its potential for sequestering carbon and maintaining soil health. Despite this surge of interest, few studies have examined the underlying motives and ideals of farmers engaging in regenerative agriculture. This study aims to fill this gap and explore how Swedish regenerative farmers view the involvement of external actors, such as corporations, in regenerative agriculture.

As attention to regenerative agriculture has grown, so have its political dimensions. Diverse ways of framing regenerative agriculture currently compete. Some view it as a farmer-led movement that can correct the weaknesses of industrial agriculture. Others see it as a chance for corporations and institutions to gain further control over rural environments. In other words, regenerative agriculture has become a contested concept. At stake is its claimed potential to support not only environmental sustainability but also equitable rural development.

This study takes a political ecology perspective to consider how knowledge about regenerative agriculture is disseminated and legitimated, asking how this is reflective of power relations. Specifically, it asks who has the power to determine the future of regenerative agriculture. Empirical findings from interviews with farmers and analysis of discussions in internet forums show that too many farmers who adopted regenerative agriculture it is not only a farming system but entwined with ideological and social aspects. Farmer's enthusiasm for regenerative agriculture is matched by suspicious and cautious views on state and corporate intervention.

The findings highlight the rather understudied farmer's point of view of regenerative agriculture. Farmer perceptions are important for external actors to understand when implementing frameworks and certifications. More generally, this thesis provides an understanding of how sustainability initiatives emerge through a combination of land managers, grassroots movements, and corporate actors.

Keywords: Regenerative agriculture, Alternative Food Networks, Food sovereignty, Political ecology, Discourse & Food systems

Sammanfattning

Jordbruket är både kraftigt påverkat av klimatförändringar och en bidragande orsak till utsläpp av växthusgaser som förorsakar klimatförändringar. En övergång till mer hållbara jordbruksmetoder är därför nödvändig och kräver nya sätt att tänka om jordbrukets kunskaper och teknologier. En snabbt växande utmanare för hur en övergång till ett mer hållbart jordbruk skulle kunna ske är regenerativt jordbruk.

Regenerativt jordbruk är långt ifrån en ny idé. Det involverar uråldriga och diversifierade metoder som till exempel att minimera plöjning till förmån för täckgrödor och att hålla tamboskap efterliknade hur vilda djur betar. Under de senaste fem åren har det skett en sorts renässans med ett ökande antal olika aktörer som visar intresse för det regenerativa jordbrukets potential för att binda kol och bevara jord hälsa. Trots detta ökade intresse har få studier undersökt de bakomliggande motiven och idealen för jordbrukare vilka ägnar sig åt regenerativt jordbruk. Denna studie syftar till att fylla denna lucka och att undersöka hur svenska regenerativa lantbrukare ser på externa aktörers, såsom företags, engagemang i regenerativt jordbruk.

I takt med att uppmärksamheten på det regenerativa jordbruket har ökat, har också dess politiska dimensioner expanderat. Olika sätt att utforma och förstå regenerativt jordbruk konkurrerar för närvarande. Vissa ser det som en lantbrukarledd rörelse som kan rätta till problemen det industriella jordbruket har skapat. Andra ser det som en chans för industriellt jordbruk och företag att få ytterligare kontroll över landsbygdsmiljöer. Med andra ord har regenerativt jordbruk blivit ett omtvistat begrepp. På spel är således regenerativt jordbruks möjliga potential att främja inte bara miljömässig hållbarhet utan också en hållbar landsbygdsutveckling.

Denna studie tar ett politiskt ekologiskt perspektiv för att undersöka hur kunskap om regenerativt jordbruk sprids och legitimeras och hur detta reflekteras i maktrelationer. Specifikt frågar denna studie vem som har makten att bestämma framtiden för regenerativt jordbruk. Det empiriska materialet från intervjuer med lantbrukare och analys av diskussioner på ett internetforum visar att för många lantbrukare som anammat regenerativt jordbruk är det inte bara ett jordbrukssystem, utan det är sammanflätat med ideologiska och sociala aspekter. Lantbrukarnas entusiasm för regenerativt jordbruk stämmas med misstänksamhet mot statliga- och företagsintressen i regenerativt jordbruk.

Resultaten i denna studie belyser det relativt understuderade jordbrukarnas perspektiv på regenerativt jordbruk. Lantbrukares perspektiv är viktiga för externa aktörer att förstå och för att kunna implementera ramverk och certifieringar på ett lyckat sätt. Mer generellt ger denna studie en förståelse för hur hållbarhetsinitiativ uppstår genom en kombination av markförvaltare, gräsrotsrörelser och företagsaktörer.

Nyckelord: Regenerativt jordbruk, Alternative Food Networks, Food sovereignty, Political ecology, Diskurs & Food systems

Table of contents

Abbreviations		
1.	Introduction	8
1.1	Aim and research questions	10
1.2	Limitations of the study	12
2.	Theoretical and methodological framework	13
2.1	The collection of data	13
	2.1.1 The forum	14
	2.1.2 Interviews	15
2.2	Analytical process	16
2.3	Analytical framework	17
2.4	Reflexivity and ethical considerations	19
3.	Regenerative agriculture	21
3.1	Regenerative agriculture a brief overview	21
3.2	Definitions of regenerative agriculture	23
3.3	Towards a Nordic regenerative agriculture	25
4.	What about the farmers	27
4.1	Motivation for regenerative adaptations	27
4.2	Challenging paradigms or not	33
4.3	Fear of assimilation	38
5.	Conclusion	42
5.1	The motives and ideals	42
5.2	Consequences of intervening actors	43
5.3	What does this all mean	45
Refe	erences	46
Рор	oular science summary	52
Ack	54	

Abbreviations

AFNs Alternative Food Networks

ECA Ethnographic Content AnalysisEOV Ecological Outcome VerificationNGOs Non-Governmental Organisations

NNRL Nordiskt Nätverk för Regenerativt Lantbruk

ROC Regenerative Organic Certification
SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

1. Introduction

In 2021 Forbes published an article under the headline *Regenerative agriculture:* the next trend in food retailing calling regenerative agriculture the new buzzword. This was just one of the numerous recent articles in the popular media covering regenerative agriculture, suggesting a rapidly growing interest across food producers and consumers in this 'new' form of sustainability. Adding to this, large actors within the food industry have announced different commitments to the expansion of regenerative agriculture initiatives. For example, Walmart aims to source produce from at least fifty million acres of regenerative agriculture by 2030. Another example of regenerative initiatives comes from Arla and their ongoing regenerative experiment on dairy farms around Europe, which will be used for evaluating regenerative agricultural practices for dairy production. Additional prominent actors within the food sector such as General Mills, Nestle, Pepsi co, and others make similar claims of having an interest in regenerative agriculture.

Although interest in regenerative agriculture has surged only in the past few years, the idea of a regenerative agriculture system has been around for some time within farming communities (Burns 2021; Giller et al. 2021; Rhodes 2017). The interest is now not solely coming from the farmers and corporations but also from the consumer, producer, retailer, and policymaker arenas, with the effect of an emerging niche market and pending certification schemes (Duncan et al. 2021; Montgomery 2018). The rise of interest has been so sudden that regenerative agriculture still does not have a comprehensive scientific definition (Elevitch et al. 2018) or a unanimously agreed-upon definition within either the farmer or the corporate community (Newton et al. 2020; Schreefel et al. 2020). Comparing for example to organic agriculture this is completely different, as organic agriculture is governed by a complex array of laws, policies, and certification schemes.

The emergence of regenerative agriculture as a sustainability solution is closely tied to concerns about climate change. Drawing upon a crisis and a failing food system narrative for a new sustainable agricultural narrative (Giller et al. 2021; Schreefel et al. 2020). Agricultural challenges on farms are expected to be intensified by climate change, with changing temperature and precipitation patterns likely in much of the world (Olsson 2021; Rockström et al. 2018; Rhodes 2017, etc.). Transitioning towards more sustainable agricultural practices is therefore imperative and requires new ways of thinking and the development of new

agricultural knowledge and technologies (Olsson 2021). Such a transition is likely to be both enabled and constrained by the rather complicated global food system.

A food system refers to a set of activities and relationships that interact to determine what, how much, by what method, and for whom food is produced and distributed (Galt 2013). While a century ago foods were produced and consumed in relatively close proximity, today food systems are thoroughly globalized (Clapp 2020). This means that nearly every food is embedded in a globalized network of knowledge production regarding farm technologies, production, consumption, and regulatory systems (Watts 2000). It is argued that during the latest decades power over the food systems has been concentrated towards large transnational corporations (Clapp 2020; McMichael 2009). Replacing subsistence farming and regional markets with a globalized food system has led to changes in power dynamics, with retailers, in particular, holding significant power (Levkoe et al. 2021).

How individuals acquire, disseminate, and legitimate knowledge about the environment is highly politicized and reflective of relations of power, and indeed very much a contested arena (Neuman 2005). This has been the focus of work in 'critical food studies,' which has argued that to understand the dynamics of food and food systems one cannot treat it as an abstract concept outside of the social relationships (Levkoe et al. 2021). Political ecology research on food has shown that we need to understand food and nature as more than inanimate matter, and to focus on actual processes surrounding political contention towards agro-industrial models and the ways in which more ecological and materially sustainable models often emerge (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017).

As this study will show, regenerative agriculture proposes an idea of a more sustainable food system. Regenerative agriculture proclaims a transformation and revitalization of the global food system (Duncan et al. 2021). Drawing upon the crisis narrative of a failing or broken agriculture and food systems which has created a large set of different consequences and inequalities for society (Giller et al. 2021). Yet, diverse ways of framing regenerative agriculture currently compete. The political consequences of various actors making regenerative claims are important to examine. The political ecology of food lens implemented in this study enables a rigorous assessment of the discourses as well as an embracing of the socio-nature and lived experiences of the farmers. This dual approach is key to examining the diverse paths to making food systems more sustainable, some of which could benefit retailers at the expense of farmers or the other way around (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). The place-based analysis shows the farmers' resistance and suspicion of both state and corporate intervention as potentially undermining the alternative ideals and for achieving the proposed food system transformation.

Alternative models and proclamations for change against dominant narratives within the food system come from a plethora of movements and organizations

(Clapp 2020). While it seems fair to say that many around the world agree that farming and the food systems need to become more sustainable, some argue that the concept of sustainable development has itself been co-opted and misused by powerful actors, enabling them to continue practices that are socially and environmentally unsustainable (Ikerd 2021). Demanding more fundamental change in our understanding and approach to farming and sustainability, Gosnell (2021) notices that many farmers engaging in regenerative agriculture also tend to undertake fundamental changes in systemic design, structure, and ways of thinking about their farm and their farming concerning grand narratives of agriculture. Many of these farmers adopted an approach to agriculture that is viewed as working with nature rather than against nature (Ibid). In this sense, regenerative agriculture is more than just an agricultural practice or method: it is a mentality that requires a fundamentally different mindset about human-environment interaction (Merfield 2019).

As my study will show with the case of Swedish farmers, there are both underlaying and outspoken desires for change. These range from a desire to change how agriculture and the food system are understood fundamentally to changes in the individual and human-nature relationships. While practices of regenerative agriculture are diverse, there is some consensus in terms of healthy soils and biodiversity (Evans 2020). Some even claim it to be a sort of soil revolution (Montgomery 2018). The degradation and loss of soil narrative, together with the loss of biodiversity narrative have been widely covered in academic writing on the failures of the current food system (Béné et al. 2019). Olsson (2021) argues that soil has recently seen a renewed political interest, specifically in how land management can create synergies between climate change mitigation and adaptation. The phrase "Healthy soils sequester carbon!" has been a sort of catchphrase expressed by different actors during the data collection of this study.

It is in this rather messy discursive arena of food systems, agriculture, environment, and political authority where this study is situated. Through a discourse analysis and by talking to farmers engaged in regenerative agriculture, I aim to provide a better understanding of regenerative agriculture ideals and how the current interest from external actors is understood from a farmer's point of view.

1.1 Aim and research questions

Regenerative agriculture can be seen as part of an alternative geography of food to one or multiple perceived problems related to primarily agro-industrial systems (Cf. Marsden et al. 2000), and to some extent other alternative agricultural systems. A response in light of climate change and environmental degradation to do something different to address the challenges created by current dominant agricultural paradigms (Burns 2021). As of now, there is no unanimous agreed-upon definition

of what regenerative agriculture is (See Loring 2021; Newton et al. 2020; Schreefel et al. 2020). Specific techniques and what constitutes regenerative agriculture remain quite vague (Newton et al. 2020). Regenerative agriculture can include a diversity of more widely practiced approaches and techniques to agriculture including agroecology, permaculture, holistic farming, organic farming, and sequence farming among others (Raven 2020; Merfield 2019). It is further described as being inclusive of new ideas and methods rather than excluding specific agricultural methods (Lal 2020). In summary, we can say that regenerative agriculture is currently in an 'open moment' where its practices are actively being negotiated and its parameters defined.

This thesis examines this open moment. It will show how different actors are situated in regenerative agriculture as a diverse movement within the political arena of agriculture and food systems. These actors draw upon distinct sustainable vs unsustainable narratives that are common to food system problems and solutions (Béné et al. 2019). Many actors currently involved in the regenerative movement are questioning how the political economy of modern agriculture and technologies, corporate power, and state regulations have pushed agriculture in a productivist agro-industrial direction (See Olsson 2021). The regenerative movement shows a prevalence as an alternative discourse and technological imaginary for what agriculture should become (Loring 2021). At the same time, regenerative agriculture has captured the interest of mainstream actors in agri-food industries, the very actors who alternative food systems proponents tend to oppose.

To understand regenerative agriculture, we must make sense of these competing narratives, examining where they intersect. This raises the question of *who* and *what* is directing the narratives about regenerative agriculture? These questions remain unaddressed by the scientific community at the time of writing this thesis. As more and more actors make regenerative claims, the concept is undergoing a process of reorganizing and reshaping as we speak. Who are they who frame the problems that are to be addressed, and what are they gaining by framing the problems in these ways? These framings expose the underlying values held by different actors. How problems are described tends to shape how certain solutions are offered, thus creating opportunities for certain actors or technologies and foreclosing on others (Béné et al. 2019). At the core of these framings, then, is *how the practice of regenerative agriculture is realized and developed*.

To explore this broader process, this study focuses on farmer dialogues and experience with regenerative agriculture. It aims to answer two specific research questions:

• How do farmers talk of and understand regenerative agriculture and what are their motives and ideals for pursuing regenerative agriculture?

 What are the experiences and perceived consequences of the farmers in the relation to the recent surge of interest in regenerative agriculture from external actors from outside the farmer community?

1.2 Limitations of the study

This study is based on my own interpretation of the data that I collected for this thesis project. I acknowledge that as a researcher my own biases affect the interpretation of the material and concerning the subject. This will further be discussed in the following chapter 2.4. I also wish to note that this study recognizes the ambiguity and diverse definitions and aspects concerning regenerative agriculture that exists today. This study does not aim to define what regenerative agriculture is but rather to address specific underlying narratives and motives behind a set of individual farmers engaging in the field of regenerative agriculture in the Swedish context. The methods were selected in order to provide an understanding of how these farmers perceive the effects of the rising interest by external actors in regenerative agriculture. The overall intention is to focus on and lift the views of these farmers.

Further limitations to this study are that farmers interviewed, though some maintain international networks, are all working and practicing agriculture in Sweden. Interviews conducted with other organizations and participating in courses and meetings have been to expand my knowledge on the topic. Thus, the material has a Nordic perspective to it, but the study recognizes that the farmers operate within an increasingly globalized arena that makes it hard to separate the scales of local and global. This approach is consistent with the conventions of political ecology, which focuses on a number of geographical scales that links place-specific conditions to regional, national, and global processes and patterns (Neumann 2005).

Theoretical and methodological framework

This chapter provides an overview of the methodical and theoretical framework for the design of this qualitative study. It introduces how and what empirical data was sourced in conducting the study and what and how theory and methodological tools were used in the analysis.

Inspired by ethnographic content analysis and discourse analysis the empirical material was explored to find patterns and narratives in farmers' perspectives and reasonings regarding regenerative agriculture. To further explain the findings, a political ecology perspective has been used to present the data and put it in a scientific context and provide an answer to the research questions. Political ecology often focuses, as I do in this study, on smaller rural communities and builds upon ethnographic data (Neumann 2005). Further, political ecology stresses a political dimension of socio-ecological systems for exploring linkages and power relations in the production of knowledge (Robbins 2020; Forsyth 2003). This study looks at a specific context and group of people that are engaged in regenerative agriculture to better understand the everyday life and experiences of these individuals, by trying to understand the norms and values that are created within the group (Kaijser & Öhlander 2011), upon which my analysis is based. With the help of a political ecology perspective, this allows for linking the empirical material to a broader context through what Blaikie and Brookfield termed 'chains of explanation' (Robbins 2020).

2.1 The collection of data

The empirical data for this study consists of seven interviews, some of them combined with participatory observational elements, together with in-depth reading on the internet-based forum *Nordiskt Nätverk för Regenerativt Lantbruk* (NNRL). A literature review focusing on scientific papers and books together with collecting data from non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and governmental bodies about regenerative agriculture was also conducted, which enabled me to assess different narratives and use both the discursive terms and practices by different actors in relation to regenerative agriculture.

Two of the seven interviews were with non-farmer individuals as they were with representatives from Länsstyrelsen Dalarna (County Administrative Board of Dalarna) and Svenskt Sigill. The latter organization is in the process of developing a framework for regenerative agriculture standards better suited for a Nordic context. Following the interview with Svenskt Sigill I also took part in the second reference group meeting for the mentioned framework project. The reference group consisted of various actors ranging from individual farmers and farmer organization representatives to NGOs and corporate representatives from different Nordic regions.

To further deepen my understanding of how regenerative agriculture is developing within a Nordic context I took part in a web-based course in regenerative agriculture provided by the County Administrative Board of Dalarna. This course of four segments was initiated due to interest from the County Administrative Board of Dalarna and requests from the local farmer community.

2.1.1 The forum

Parts of the data for this study have been sourced from the internet-based forum *Nordiskt Nätverk för Regenerativt Lantbruk* on Facebook. The forum is an online space, connected to the Savoury Institutes' global network and holistic management framework, for farmers and others to discuss and exchange knowledge under the regenerative umbrella. Therefore, the forum is a space that contains a large amount of interesting data regarding how these individuals talk and make sense of regenerative agriculture.

Using data from an online forum such as this study is regarded as somewhat of a grey area within academic research (Bryman 2018; Sugiura et al. 2017), particularly when it comes to issues on consent and ethical considerations (Sugiura 2016). There has been however growing attention within academia focusing on online spaces as sources of data (See for example Kozinets 2020). Forums such as the one used in this study can provide a substantial amount of qualitative data (Bhutta 2010). Using forums such as the NNRL can provide qualitative data that gives the researcher capacity to examine user posts over linear time frames. This can provide data with a certain amount of precision for determining how, why, and when certain themes and frames begin to emerge and how and why they become topics of a discourse (Altheide & Schneider 2013). Acknowledging the somewhat grey area regarding ethical concerns when using data from online forums, certain measures have been taken in this study to ensure the anonymity of forum respondents in line with suggestions of Sugiura et al. (2017) and Sugiura (2016). Rather than using quotes as in the case of the interviews where I have gotten individuals' permission to use the data (See Bryman 2018; Creswell & Creswell 2018), all of the relevant data gathered from the forum will be paraphrased in order due to ethical considerations and to preserve anonymity for forum members

(Sugiura 2016). The use of paraphrasing is done to protect individuals from being traced and still be able to present a vivid material for analysis (Ibid). It should also be noted that I presented myself on the forum saying that I was conducting a study on regenerative agriculture and stated my aims for this study.

2.1.2 Interviews

The empirical material for this study also relies on five interviews with farmers practicing regenerative agriculture. Participants for interviews were sourced through the above-mentioned forum. Personal interviews with individuals on the forum were used to get a more in-depth understanding of the individuals within the same group (Creswell & Creswell 2018). During the research process, two non-farmer interviews were also contacted. These two interviews were the ones mentioned earlier with the County Administrative Board of Dalarna and Svenskt Sigill. For the most part, notes were taken during the interviews while on two occasions these were also recorded and then transcribed.

Interviews were chosen as a method for the purpose of being able to talk to individuals face-to-face about their beliefs and attitudes concerning regenerative agriculture. They served as a way of broadening my sources of data that could potentially give interesting cues and act as a complement to the data collected from the forum. All interviews were semi-structured to allow the conversations an element of freedom and let the interviewees talk about what is important to them (Robson & McCartan 2016). The farmer interviews were done in their home environment on the respective farms over a cup of coffee and walking around the farms on some brisk days in February 2022. Thus, this allowed for conducting a participatory observation element and interesting observations of how the farmers interacted with their home environment and contexts. The two interviews with the County Administrative Board of Dalarna and Svenskt Sigill were conducted over telephone and Skype. These interviews were primarily a contribution to getting an understanding of how institutions and framework development around regenerative agriculture are understood and progressing.

Interview participants' names are anonymized as per conventional research standards in this study and quotes taken from the interviews will be cited as Farmer 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 (Bryman 2018; Robson & McCartan 2016). A further presentation and description of some interviewees and their farms follow in the analysis, chapter 4, of this study. No quotes will be used in this study from the other two interviews, the County Administrative Board of Dalarna and Svenskt Sigill, and where information from these is presented, it will be my own words reiterating the information.

2.2 Analytical process

Bryman (2018) stresses the importance of letting the topic and research questions guide the choice of theory and not the other way around. Having this in mind this study started by diving into the empirical material consisting of the forum looking for themes and topics. This was followed by reaching out to farmers through the forum to conduct interviews to get a deeper understanding of their realities and experiences as regenerative farmers (Kaijser & Öhlander 2011), searching for underlying themes through their words and language.

Words and language can be vital theoretical tools in understanding a phenomenon as words and language create patterns in terms of power and relations (Bergström & Boréus 2012). It is through a shared and mutually agreed-on use between peers that words and languages create meaning (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002). Language can therefore be both a constitutive and constituted form of power that shapes and determine how individuals create and understand reality and social identities (Wodak & Meyer 2009). Language thus can be understood as a social practice that constitutes reality and shapes different worldviews constructed through specific categorizations, institutional and personal relations together with politics and ideologies (Fairclough 2013). This approach to the understanding of words and language is discursive. Specific discourses generate certain patterns for action and production of knowledge (Jorgensen & Philips 2002). The approach to the empirical material in this study is clearly inspired by discursive thinking in the reading and interpreting of the material. Though a quantitative discourse analysis cannot be said to have been applied in this study. It rather has been a mix of theories and concepts in the structuring and analysis of the different themes in connection to the research questions.

The search for underlying themes in the empirical material is related to the common method of qualitative content analysis (Bryman 2018). As this study is linked more to the narratives of a specific group of individuals an ethnographic content analysis (ECA) inspired approach was performed (Altheide & Schneider 2013). The ethnographic analysis has perhaps historically focused more on the exotic 'other', but its usefulness is not limited to that and can be utterly useful for focusing on institutions and organizations as well (Neumann 2005). The ECA approach allows a more abductive method in working with the empirical material and analysis as ECA is characterized by its reflexive and recursive nature of moving between concepts, data, interpretation, and analysis during the whole process (Bryman 2018; Altheide & Schneider 2013). Allowing for new themes to emerge and old ones to be confirmed by going back and forth between analysis and the empirical material (Altheide & Schneider 2013). The types of framings, as well as inclusion and exclusion of specific views, affect the social realities and why the topic of discourse is important (Ibid).

In relation to the second research question, two major themes of interest will be presented below that show a contradiction or tension within the community of regenerative agriculture. Firstly, and integrated into the first research question, the underlying motives for pursuing regenerative agriculture showed notions of challenging perceived dominant narratives of agriculture. Regenerative agriculture promotes a discursive change for transformation toward a more sustainable food system (Gordon et al. 2021), challenging a perceived dominant agro-industrial discourse. Second, is a worry of having the concept of regenerative agriculture being co-opted by external actors with potential negative effects for regenerative agriculture as an outcome. To understand these opinions this study will argue for the importance of understanding the ideals and motivational aspects of farmers engaging in regenerative agriculture.

The following analysis is based on the empirical findings derived from the interviews and discussions on the NNRL forum along with a range of articles on regenerative agriculture and earlier critical food studies. The study employs a qualitative research approach regarding the data collection and analysis (Bryman 2018; Robson & McCartan 2016). The ethnographic element refers to the depiction of the regenerative farmers and the analysis of their interactions and social realities (Altheide & Schneider 2013). The theoretical framework together with earlier research is used to place the study in a wider agricultural political context aiming at providing a better understanding of regenerative agriculture practitioners' own realities (Bryman 2018; Creswell & Creswell 2018). Drawing upon concepts such as food systems, alternative food networks, and sustainability to steer the discussion around the research questions.

2.3 Analytical framework

During the ethnographic content analysis certain questions came up and the need for a theoretical framework to explain these arose. The findings pointed to interesting issues of how problems related to agriculture and sustainability are framed. There was also a clear political aspect entwined in the stories of the interviewees and in the discussions on the forum. This is further backed up by seeing the growing number of political actors ranging from NGOs, multi-national corporations, and political bodies such as the EU showing interest in regenerative agriculture. The empirical data showed a tension where practitioners of regenerative agriculture both expressed a desire to challenge what is perceived as dominant agricultural paradigms and at the same time expressed a fear of having their concept co-opted by external forces. In other words: losing control over the direction of future regenerative development. This led me to adopt a political ecology perspective to situate the findings in a broader societal and academic context while retaining a political perspective.

Political ecology as a science can be said to have emerged in the 1960s with the growing attention to human impacts on the biophysical environment (Forsyth 2003). Political ecology is a critical research field that aims to examine how economic structures and power relations drive environmental change in a globalized world (Robbins 2020). A common focus for political ecology studies is how the role of capitalist markets and state forces affects processes of local dispossession and environmental disruption, by trying to assess whose voices and perceptions count when it comes to framing problems (Roberts 2020). Thus, political ecology as a theoretical approach tends to reveal the winners and losers and the differential power relations that produce social and environmental outcomes (Ibid). The field of political ecology is a fairly generous term embracing a large range of definitions and draws upon several academic fields and theories making political ecology epistemologically and methodologically pluralistic (Robbins 2020; Galt 2013). Political ecology has earlier made a significant contribution to research on agriculture and food studies (See Robbins 2020; Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017; Galt 2013 etc.), emphasizing the political and ecological scales as instrumental in critical food studies and their role in the development of AFNs (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). AFNs refer to movements that commonly insist on a reconfiguration of how the food system should work and issues of governance of them. They generally emerge from a joint multifaceted critique and contradiction of a perceived unsustainable industrial food system (Goodman et al. 2013).

This study further draws upon food system discourse theory to address the complex nature of agriculture and food production (Stefanovic et al. 2020). Food systems are contested and intricate in their nature, meaning that initiatives trying to change a food system are necessarily entangled in the complexity of food systems. Yet these initiatives are often framed within specific disciplinary food system discourses, which tend to undercount this complexity (Eakin et al. 2017; Foran et al. 2014). Food systems is a broad concept that includes different scales ranging from supply chains and material flows to social-ecological system frameworks and approaches towards food (Eakin et al. 2017; Ericksen 2008).

Regenerative agriculture can be understood as a reaction to perceived problems with how agriculture is, and was, being conducted, and in its essence by the practitioners as a way of addressing climate change and environmental damage to do something different to mitigate/answer these problems (Burns 2021). I will refer to regenerative as a movement under the basic assumption of the characteristics of being a loose network joined together to promote certain ideas (McMichael 2017). The relationship between nature and society is dialectical, and the transformation of ecosystems is embedded in political and economic structures and institutions and thus cannot be understood without consideration of these (Neumann 2005). Agriculture and both climate change and environmental degradation are political from a political ecology standpoint (Zimmerer & Bassett 2012; Forsyth 2003). A

political ecology lens thus is helpful as this study aims to explore how meanings and discourses are shaping specific socio-natural configurations through political and ecological processes (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). The approach of political ecology follows a mode of explanation that evaluates the influence of different variables on several scales nested together and how global, economic, and local politics influence local decisions (Robbins 2020). Regenerative agriculture thus here could be understood as a node acting within a larger ecology of the local and global politics surrounding agriculture and the food systems. Where this study is trying to take into account the broader structural forces of socio-ecological change through the understanding of impacts and responses to changes on the local level (Roberts 2020).

2.4 Reflexivity and ethical considerations

It should be clear that any analysis and/or assumptions made in this study are my own interpretation of the empirical data (Bryman 2018; Creswell & Creswell 2018). It should also be noted that this study is not trying to take any side or say whether one thing is better than the other. The goal of this study is to broaden the debate by focusing on interpreted narratives concerning regenerative agriculture that are out there, in the real world. Surely other types of conclusions if using another type of framework can be done but this study has aimed to be true to the words of practitioners.

A great deal of reflexivity has been present in all the stages of my research from beginning to end and further thanks to the ECA approach. But also, because reflexivity is important when conducting research (Creswell & Creswell 2018), and as science though arguably is seldom non-biased (Bryman 2018). Therefore, it is important when conducting a study with real people as a researcher to be reflexive of the authors' own biases and role as to ethical concerns regarding participants taking part in the study (Bryman 2018; Robson & McCartan 2016). When working with individuals while doing research there is a need to respect the integrity of the participants. Such as having permission and consent for recording interviews but also letting participants know why and for what reasons they are interviewed (Creswell & Creswell 2018). Further, the data collected should be treated with confidentiality in an effort to not jeopardize any participants under any circumstances. Regarding ethical concerns, though none of the interview participants did mind their names being published they will be anonymized and not be mentioned by name in this study (Robson & McCartan 2016; Sugiura 2016). As this study is using an online forum for research purposes it raises certain ethical issues regarding informed consent, privacy, and anonymity for individuals (Sugiura et al. 2017). Therefore, specific methods and respect as mentioned in section 2.1.1 have been taken.

Also, regarding the forum data, one might raise the question of who is writing and expressing themselves, as even though there are over 2000 individuals enrolled on the forum everyone may perhaps not express their views and take part in the discussions. Thus, this affects any conclusion and analysis drawn in this study as the data come from what could be regarded as 'the loudest voices', and people willingly sharing their views. The political ecology perspective also raises certain questions about what conclusions this study draws. Political ecology and its historical desire of understanding marginalization and contestation from those who are perceived as excluded or exploited possess potentially a dilemma of objectivity (Wolford & Keene 2015). Therefore, I want to make clear that regarding who maybe is marginalized, excluded, or exploited is not a matter for this study. This study uses political ecology in addressing the discursive social identities and how these relate to ideas of agriculture and sustainability situated in different political contexts (Neumann 2005).

3. Regenerative agriculture

Regenerative agriculture is not a new practice or idea, despite the recent surge in interest (Giller et al. 2021). Therefore, this section will cover briefly the historical aspects and discuss what sets regenerative agriculture apart from (as well as some similarities to) other alternative agricultural practices. A discussion on current understandings of definitions of regenerative agriculture is followed by a presentation of an initiative from Svenskt Sigill proposing a framework for regenerative agriculture suited for a Nordic context.

The following discussion is largely based upon a review of several scientific papers, organizational websites and press material, and other books on regenerative agriculture together with the interviews and the forum data.

3.1 Regenerative agriculture a brief overview

Gosnell (2021) argues that the discontent with the negative environmental and social impacts of modern industrial agriculture has given rise to the interest in alternative agricultural models, such as regenerative agriculture. Often seen drawing upon the narrative of an agriculture in crisis and of a food system that is failing us (Sumberg 2022; Giller et al. 2021; Béné et al. 2019). Regenerative agriculture as an idea has been around for some decades now (See Sampson 1982) prior to the resurgence of attention it seemingly has been given lately as a solution for a more sustainable food system (Giller et al. 2021; White 2020; LaCanne & Lundgren 2018).

The origin of the idea seems to be commonly understood as being traced back to Robert Rodale and the Rodale Institute founded in the USA in 1947 (Gosnell 2021; Ikerd 2021; Merfield 2019; Rhodes, 2017). It came as a response to what was then seen as a dysfunctional development of the agriculture system that caused the depletion of soil and fertility on agricultural lands. Primarily regenerative agriculture was focused on soil and ecosystem health, and still does to a large extent (Merfield 2019; Rhodes 2017). Though, the regenerative idea has more recently developed and has also become more concerned about social equity in relation to ecological health (Gosnell 2021). Recent writing suggests that a move toward a regenerative agricultural system that is vibrant, socially equitable, culturally

diverse, and spiritually meaningful has been happening (Gosnell 2021; Lal 2020). For example, the Rodale Institute envisions regenerative agriculture as a long term and holistically inspired design that allows for growing food with as few resources as possible, while revitalizing soils which allows for a higher degree of carbon sequestration that grants improvements in environmental, social, and economic measures (Rodale Institute 2014). This indicates the roots in an ecological perspective, shared by many other alternative agricultural concepts as it explicitly and sometimes implicitly suggests a (re)turn to nature as the only true way to transform agriculture (Sumberg 2022). While sharing what seems to be a sort of common ground in the semiotic idea of creating something *regenerative* rather than the more static notion of sustainability, different actors, as will be shown, also have slight variations and definitions of what constitutes as regenerative (Schreefel et al. 2020).

There are visible connections and linkages between regenerative agriculture and other alternative agricultural practices or alternative food networks promoting change (Sumberg 2022). Some have been largely covered in scientific literature and regulated, such as climate-smart agriculture and organic agriculture (Schreefel et al. 2020). For example, all three alternative agriculture models focus on healthy soils, ecosystems, and ecological processes and are popular 'buzzwords' in different sustainability discursive settings (Ibid). Organic agriculture often refers to a set of standards that are defined by sets of laws and less formal rules and regulated by different authorities that specify what is and what is not allowable to be classified as organic farming (Schreefel et al. 2020; Merfield 2019; Guthman 2014). Climatesmart agriculture is an approach that aims to transform and protect the agricultural sector by addressing and adapting agriculture to the challenges of climate change and food security (Chandra et al. 2018). The clear difference from regenerative agriculture is that organic regulations tend to focus on restricting such things as inputs, fertilizers, and methods. While Climate-smart agriculture is criticized to be a narrowly apolitical framework that disregards issues of power, inequalities, and access (Taylor 2018). It is with concern to these notions of power and constraints that the empirical data for this study will show why farmers engage in regenerative agriculture. Further, regenerative agriculture also seemingly shares some of the core values found in agroecology such as aiming in retaining nutrients and energy on the farm rather than introducing external inputs to enhance the soils and biodiversity (McMichael 2017).

As mentioned earlier regenerative agriculture as of now has no commonly agreed-upon definition (Elevitch et al. 2018), and it, therefore, lacks a set of rules guiding what and what not is allowed. This makes for an open and diverse playing field in terms of how to practice and what constitutes as regenerative agriculture. It should be noted that from an ecological perspective the question of whether or not regenerative practices have the potential to contribute to climate change mitigation

and how much it can actually retain more carbon in the soils remains somewhat controversial (See Giller et al. 2021; Ranganathan et al. 2020). By some regenerative agriculture is even argued to just be sort of a re-framing of agroecology and sustainable intensification (Giller et al. 2021). Some, however, claim (see for example Burns 2021; White 2020) that regenerative practices show positive outcomes on both carbon sequestration in the soils and increased biodiversity on regeneratively managed farms.

In summary, regenerative agriculture focuses on the enhancement and restoration of resilient ecosystem processes (Newton et al. 2020; Gosnell et al. 2019), yet it is thus far more of an attitude (rather than a well-defined method per se) according to the practitioners that aim to restore and improve ecological resilience (White 2020). Practices include improving and/or restoring soil health and fertility as well as biodiversity through techniques such as minimum or notillage, cover and rotational crops, and various grazing methods for achieving effects such as carbon sequestration and improved soil water retention (Gosnell et al. 2019; Rhodes 2017). This makes defining what regenerative agriculture is rather complex. Not to mention the integrated aim for the need to also take into account the aim of fulfilling human needs such as strong livelihoods and rural communities in regenerative agriculture.

3.2 Definitions of regenerative agriculture

Having not received a great deal of attention previously the number of scientific articles on regenerative agriculture has increased noticeably lately. A study by Newton et al. (2020) of 229 scientific articles and 25 practitioner's websites showed a large variety in existing definitions and descriptions of regenerative agriculture. They found that the definitions could be characterized into two main categories of process and outcome-focused definitions (Ibid). Process-focused definitions emphasize the inclusion and exclusion of different agricultural practices based on their regenerative prospects, such as the integration of certain crops and/or animals, no-till agriculture, or the use of cover crops (Ibid). The outcome-oriented definitions focus more on the effects of specific practices, such as carbon sequestrations, increased soil health, and biodiversity (Ibid). The Newton et al. (2020) study also noted that combinations of process and outcome-oriented definitions were common.

This ambiguity and plethora of different definitions and understandings of what constitutes regenerative agriculture make up the complex reality of the emerging discursive space of regenerative agriculture (Gordon et al. 2020). A clear definition of regenerative agriculture would be useful for creating indicators and policies that enable the assessment and support of regenerative practices to, for example, reach the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (Schreefel et al. 2020). Presently the

farmers and parts of the scientific community are pressing for an understanding of regenerative agriculture as principles and results, while corporations and state actors often seem more interested in what agronomic methods are used (Newton et al. 2020).

There are however currently two farmer-initiated certification or assessment systems for regenerative agriculture originating from the US but are also used by farmers globally to various degrees. The first one is coming from the non-profit organization Regenerative Organic Alliance composed of farmers, business leaders, and experts in the fields of soil health, animal welfare, and social fairness (Regenerative Organic Alliance 2022). It started in 2017 and came up with a revised framework for Regenerative Organic Certification (ROC) in 2020 (Regenerative Organic Alliance 2021). The certification system focuses on three pillars to promote holistic agriculture practices in an all-encompassing certification that 1: Increases soil organic matter over time and sequesters carbon below and above ground, which could be a tool to mitigate climate change; 2: Improve animal welfare; 3: Provides economic stability and fairness for farmers, ranchers, and workers. (Ibid)

The second certification system is the Ecological Outcome Verification (EOV) by the Savoury Institute. Contrary to many other certification systems that are process-oriented (See Tayleur et al. 2017), the EOV is focused on the outcomes instead (Savoury Institute 2021). Similar to the ROC the EOV also is built upon three main strategic pillars. The first one is the focus on outcomes as tools and practices alone do not guarantee a regenerative outcome which brings us to the second pillar, the contextuality. The EOV recognizes that a one-size-fits-all attitude is not a useful approach because tools and practices need to be adjusted to fit each specific location and context. This is addressed by defining areas with an ecoregion map that acknowledges each ecoregion's biodiversity, climate, geology, and soil profiles. The third pillar is what EOV refers to as 'farmers first.' Overall, EOV is a farmer assessment tool to encourage learning and improvement between farmers rather than a top-down approach (Ibid).

These are two approaches toward a certification scheme and for defining regenerative agriculture and practices. Regenerative agriculture as shown above can consist of many different practices combined with the intention to move beyond the static notion of sustainability and, as the name implies, be more regenerative (Rhodes 2017). Many interpretations of regenerative agriculture also take into account that different places and geographies need different approaches and are in different ecological states for becoming regenerative, suggesting that farmers need to get accustomed to and know their land such that they can identify what is good and bad for it. The data from the interviews and the forum shows that this understanding is seemingly predominate amongst the Swedish farmers of regenerative agriculture. Regenerative agriculture understood as a way of thinking and attitude rather than specific methods was presented by the interviewed farmers

as regenerative agriculture is more about results, thus aligning more with the outcome-focused definitions noted by Newton et al. (2020). In the study by Schreefel et al. (2020) on regenerative agriculture based upon the themes found in the reviewed scientific articles, they propose a provisional working definition of regenerative agriculture. They define regenerative agriculture as a practice that focuses on soil conservation as the foundation to regenerate and contribute to multiple provisioning, regulating, and supporting services that enhance environmental aspects in conjunction with social and economic dimensions of food production (Schreefel et al. 2020).

The lack of a clear definition and the rather flexible nature of regenerative agriculture also creates a space for the interpretation of key objectives and practices that are regenerative (White 2020; Merfield 2019). This is what opens a space for actors to be able to interpret and define their ideas so to say of regenerative agriculture. Based on the interviews and forum the farmers perceive regenerative agriculture as theirs. Expressing a sort of ownership over ideas and the concept. It is thus important to note that there are other prominent actors also who have entered the field of trying to define regenerative agriculture such as Carbon Underground, SAI-platform, and Soil Carbon Initiative. Together with corporations within the food industry such as General Mills, Unilever, and many others who also have created and adapted their own sets of principles and guidelines for regenerative agriculture. Further combined with recent corporate regenerative initiatives led by actors such as Arla, Wasa, Walmart, and Nestle to name a few. This plethora of actors is what makes up the political and discursive arena of regenerative agriculture at the moment, and where questions on how to define regenerative agriculture have implications in terms of whose benefit and to whose disadvantage specific interpretations of regenerative agriculture will have (Cf. Robbins 2020; Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017)

It should also be noted that the forum NNRL has its own short definition, which is also the same as the Norwegian regenerative movement, of regenerative agriculture which is "To enable the highest possible vitality in ecosystems, by satisfying human needs".

3.3 Towards a Nordic regenerative agriculture

As implied by many advocates of regenerative agriculture, specific practices need to take into account the regional and local agricultural contextualities. On the 14th of February 2022, Svenskt Sigill presented a new initiative aimed at defining regenerative agriculture for a Nordic context (Svenskt Sigill 2022). Though, a reference group meeting did occur already in November of 2021. In this more recent update on the 14th of February 2022, they acknowledged that the origin and systems of regenerative agriculture come from a North American perspective. With the

growing interest in regenerative agriculture in the Nordic region, a framework for regenerative agriculture adapted to a Nordic context is needed. The aim is to create a unified definition and guidelines based on scientific support for how to interpret regenerative agriculture in a Nordic environment.

The initiative has two goals. Firstly, the goal is to adapt existing definitions and principles of regenerative agriculture to fit a Nordic context where these can be used as tools for achieving more sustainable agriculture. The second goal is to have a framework to avoid the risks of regenerative agriculture being watered down. (Sigill Kvalitetssystem 2021).

In the more recent publication (Svenskt Sigill 2022), three purposes for the initiative can be distinguished. First, it is aimed to address the confusion, that has also been noted within the science community (see Newton et al. 2020; Elevitch et al. 2018; etc.), about what constitutes regenerative agriculture. Second, they argue that a unified definition could also assist in creating business opportunities between farmers and food sector corporations. Third, one of the outermost important issues is to make sure that the rising interest in regenerative agriculture actually leads to an increase in sustainability within the food sector production chains.

In the interview with the representative from Svenskt Sigill they clarify that what they are aiming at is to come up with a definition of regenerative agriculture that works for the Nordic environment, as they saw that existing definitions were not suitable for the Nordic context. It is not an attempt to have a certification in place but rather a framework for conducting regenerative agriculture in the Nordic context. The framework is an attempt to avoid appropriation of the concept and misuse of its potential positive climate and environmental effects.

This chapter has not been intended as a comprehensive overview of the definitions of regenerative agriculture. Rather it shows the prevalence of a discursive hegemonical arena of change happening. As many different actors now are promoting an agricultural transformation in creating more sustainable food systems, where regenerative agriculture can be seen as part of an emerging regenerative discursive alternative (Gordon et al. 2021). This chapter further situates regenerative agriculture in a political arena and sets a stage where groups of actors are seen making claims and to some extent claiming ownership over ideas concerning the creation of new social and environmental systems (Robbins 2020; Neumann 2005). But the chapter is also a link in the chain important for understanding the historical and present situated processes in which regenerative are both materially and discursively produced (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017).

4. What about the farmers

Following is a discussion derived from the empirical data collected and an analysis based on the conceptual and theoretical framework presented above. The analysis is presented inspired by Geertz's (1973) thick description in such a way that results, analysis, and discussion are done side by side to invigorate the material under thematically themed chapters (Bryman 2018).

Firstly, this chapter is composed of a discussion on motivation and ideals to understand why farmers engage in and how they understand regenerative agriculture. This has been an understudied part of the regenerative agricultural movement (See for example Burns 2021; Giller et al. 2021; Newton et al. 2020). This is followed secondly with the exploration of two themed chapters on how farmers perceive the interest, and a growing number of external actors' involvement affects regenerative agriculture.

The understanding of motivations and ideals, and why people do what they do is, as will be shown, important to why they are trying to do something different and making claims of challenging paradigms (Gosnell 2021). As is addressing the threads of material, ethical and political commitments in which individuals and AFNs try to govern food system social change (Goodman et al. 2013). It is also important for understanding why the regenerative movement is fearing having their movement co-opted or assimilated due to the growing number of external actors interested in regenerative agriculture. As the reproduction and dissemination of regenerative agriculture are happening in politicized and market-embedded spaces and scales (Robbins 2020; Goodman et al. 2013; Zimmerer & Bassett 2012).

4.1 Motivation for regenerative adaptations

One entry point for individuals to adopt new agricultural practices, such as regenerative agriculture, is a crisis of some sort (Gosnell 2019). The food system and agriculture today consist of a complex web of relations involving a multitude of actors that have shifted control over agricultural development away from both farmers and consumers (Clapp 2020). Further, with the globalization of the food system and the market integration a growing concern about the negative effects this development has had on social, economic, and ecological aspects are raised (Clapp 2020; McMichael 2013). Different concepts and adaptations have evolved over the

years in a response to try to mitigate these perceived problems with the food system and agriculture. These efforts are trying to pursue and find more sustainable ways of producing food and mitigating the negative effects of agriculture contributing to climate and environmental change, and regain governance over the food system. Forsyth (2003) describes environmental adaptations as practices adopted by practitioners to mitigate the effects of environmental change and environmental impacts of resource scarcity. Alternative agriculture models, such as regenerative agriculture, are often presented as practices of solutions to mitigate these negative effects contributing to environmental change and the degradation of land created by an agro-industrial system.

The first interview conducted was with a farmer on an old family farm who had dairy cows grazing the open farmlands. Their production and farm were organic and KRAV¹ certified prior to adopting a regenerative attitude towards how to operate the farm. Even though they had a fairly large amount of grazing land relative to the number of cows, they described how the pastures seemed to be depleted every year by the end of summer, resulting in the need for buying extra feed for the cows. The farmer shared that he understood this as something was wrong, the way he ran his farm was not the optimal way of running it. "We had a problem where we ran out of grass for our animals every year and questioned ourselves, what are we doing wrong?" (Farmer 1). Through information in a newsletter from the local County Administrative Board with an invitation to a seminar, he attended a lecture by Allen Savoury of the Savoury Institute during one of Savoury's visits to Sweden. This was how the farmer was introduced to holistic management and regenerative agriculture. While learning more about holistic management and regenerative agriculture through mainly social media sources and his own research the transition towards a holistic management approach on the farm showed significant positive results. The grass now lasted well over the summer period and far into the autumn season. Similar stories of experiences of doing something wrong and finding regenerative agriculture to be a sort of solution to their problems are also found on the forum.

There is a difference between adaptive strategies and adaptive processes. Adaptive strategies are practical decisions made by the individual to change productive strategies on the farm (Forsyth 2003). Adaptive processes are more long-term decisions that aim for socio-economic change (Ibid). For this specific farmer, the transition towards a holistic management approach of their farm was a practical decision made to improve his grazing lands which also lead to less need

_

¹ KRAV is a Swedish certification meaning that produce is not only organically produced but grown and raised without artificial chemical pesticides and artificial fertilizers. While also contributing to biological diversity, reducing climate impact and protection of environment and health. Together with promoting better animal welfare and social equity. Aiming for being the most sustainable way of producing foods: https://www.krav.se/en/this-is-krav/a-label-for-organic-food/

for extra feed to be bought for their animals. The transition to managing the farm was also partly ideologically based. The interview touched upon the subject of holistic management and was described by farmer 1 as more of a mindset, a set of principles that helps in making decisions not only related to the farm but also in life itself. The farmer explained it with a very basic example of if he needed a new tractor to manage farm duties on the farm and a specific tractor would cost him five million SEK. The purchase of the new tractor would force him to work more to pay the loan he would need to take to make the purchase, which would infringe on other goals he had in his life such as being able to spend more time with his family. Thus, the investment of five million SEK would not be a viable option as he values his time to do other things than work, which are more important for him than investing in a new tractor. Implying that embracing a holistic mindset and regenerative agriculture is also a way for the farmers of including the social equity and spiritual meanings, as mentioned earlier, into the agricultural context (Gosnell 2021; Lal 2020). As well as part of a critique of how agricultural development has distanced the farmer from the lands. A more holistic and regenerative mindset is described on the forum as a way of "... taking back the farm, the plants, and the cultivation, much of that the third and fourth agrarian revolution outsourced to the industry" (NNRL forum member). This adheres to a longstanding critique found in other food system research of corporate dominance in the agricultural sector and how the agroindustrial approach has distanced farmers from their lands and food (See for example Canfield et al. 2021; Clapp 2020; Guthman 2014; Holt-Giménez & Altieri 2013; McMichael 2013).

The following interviewed farmers had all in comparison to the first relatively smaller farms consisting of an average of around seven hectares of land. They also had more diversified and smaller herds and flocks of animals on their farms. Ranging from sheep, goats, rabbits, chickens, and ducks in combination with larger vegetable and tree gardens. These farmers had all bought old run-down farms that had been overgrown and not farmed for several decades prior to them coming there. In common these farmers also came from different academic backgrounds such as biology, and social and political sciences. All of them had prior experiences in permaculture, agroecology, and agroforestry and acquired the farms intending to revitalize the farms in different ways based on the three mentioned practices. On two of the smaller farms that had been overgrown the farmers started with the laboursome work of cutting down trees and shrubs to clear the pastures that once had historically been there. They told of an almost nostalgic vision of recreating what once was seen as a golden age of their farms in their efforts to revitalize the lands. A nod to a somewhat romanticized vision of the old days where their farms were being farmed and sustained itself. One pair of interviewees said, "we would rather describe ourselves as re-settlers rather than pioneers" (Farmer 3 & 4). This interestingly draws upon and connects to other types of contemporary social

movements and is coupled with a sort of counter-cultural idea of wanting rural change such as back-to-the-land movements (See Wilbur 2014; Wilbur 2013; Halfacree 2007). That could be understood as part of a larger transformation discourse with more ecological embedding questioning how we are supposed to live our lives and that seeks a more sustainable way of living. Unanimous amongst the interviewees was that they also talked a lot about human and nature relations, understanding themselves as part of the ecosystem on their farms. Pressing on the importance of letting nature have its course and adjusting their methods to what happened naturally on the farm. Wanting to work together with nature and the farm for achieving greater biodiversity and vital lands:

After a year of rotational grazing with a few sheep, I could see new species of grass coming, there were more insects, and the birds were more plentiful. And the mushrooms, there are a lot of new species of mushrooms all over the farm. The grazing spurred the grass and has strengthened the roots. In the beginning, I could not even dig in the soil with a shovel because it was so compacted, but now after a couple of years of managing my farm regenerative the soil is healthy and lush again. (Farmer 2)

Working with nature was a unified theme in the interviews and likewise present in discussions on the forum. Sumberg (2022) differentiates between two types of transformational elements within agricultural development. Where the first type is a more technocratic element that relies on science and technology to improve the existing agricultural system through modernization and increased efficiency (Sumberg 2022). Seemingly the adoption of regenerative practices gives positive results for the farmers in terms of visual confirmation of increased biodiversity and the prolonged grazing periods over the year for their animals. It was often described in how they, the farmers, see that the grass is seemingly stronger and thus lasts much longer than before, together with visual confirmations of higher biodiversity in flora and fauna on the farmlands. This also shows a prevalence of them wanting and being an active part both in the creation and maintenance of ecosystems on the farms. Where they actively engage in and assess methods in creating a balance between themselves, ecosystems, and the lands.

The working with nature approach that was presented by the interviewees more clearly is positioned with Sumberg's (2022) second type of transformational element: demanding a more radical shift towards an ecological benign alternative agricultural development including technical, social, and economic change (Sumberg 2022). There are similarities here in the regenerative movement today to the early organic movement. Where the tension between those who were more radically proclaiming an alternative to a hegemonic agri-food system and those who viewed organic as more of an altruistic and more ecologically benign approach to agriculture (see Guthman 2014), that also exists within the regenerative movement. Regenerative agriculture is proposed as an alternative for more sustainable food production by making claims such as lowering carbon emissions and external inputs

while improving ecosystem services and resilience to climate change (Al-Kaisi & Lal 2020). There are clear ideological elements in the proclamation of change and critique against an agro-industrial discourse that is perceived as not being concerned about the social and human aspects of agriculture. Talking about forest management with farmer 3 she said: "the forest companies run things, the owners of the forests rarely have a connection to them, they do not live here" (Farmer 3) implying that without connection and knowledge of the forest how can you know what is good for the forest and those living nearby. This further implies that the role of the farmer is a sort of custodian and someone that has the responsibility for their lands that differentiates from the views of the corporations.

Many of the alternative agricultural approaches, such as organic farming, permaculture, and agroforestry, share the ecological perspective of looking to and trying to mimic nature in different ways to conceive what is understood as sustainable development (Sumberg 2022). For the farmers, the reconnection to nature is also apparently crucial but it also contains a relational element of connection to nature, a desire for a rethinking of human and nature relations. This is comparable to how Merfield (2019) and Guthman (2014) describe that many organic farmers also understand their commitment to organic agriculture as a philosophy and as a social movement. Regenerative agriculture seems to show the same inclinations. Considering their farming system and their personal world views are strongly entwined (Burns 2021; Merfield 2019).

Understanding motives and why farmers adopt regenerative practices is crucial for creating frameworks and policies to be adopted and understood by farmers and other practitioners (Gosnell 2020). A strong motivator for change is the emotion related to crisis and the galvanization of a strong ethical element (Massy 2017). Similar to Massy (2017) who claims that regenerative farmers are developing a strong sense of community and compassion for wider society, the empirical data point towards a similar conclusion. As seen in this quote: "I guess why regenerative, it is a sort of passion. A want to do good for the land and the community and not being destructive" (Farmer 4). A transition toward becoming regenerative is often tied to a philosophical change or standpoint in heart and mind (Merfield 2019). Yet it should be noted that combating climate change was a less frequently found theme in the study composed of 28 scientific peer-reviewed articles on regenerative agriculture by Schreefel et al. (2020). In contrast, interviewed farmers and farmers on the forum expressed how regenerative agriculture is a way to transform agriculture into becoming more climate and environmentally friendly. As one of the interviewees put it when explaining why he pursues regenerative agriculture on his farm "...it might be a small drop in the ocean as to the bigger picture, but I want to do my part, do what I can do for a brighter future for mankind and for the lands here outside" (Farmer 2)

One motivational aspect in common for the interviewees for adopting regenerative agriculture stems from a personal realization of how modern agriculture is associated with negative environmental and social impacts. Together with the idea of creating a space that enables agricultural change towards higher sustainability or even a regenerative state. This critique against perceived paradigms of agriculture is also what creates the spaces for alternative agriculture initiatives to be developed (Gosnell 2021). Regenerative agriculture contains a resemblance to a social movement in that it has an overarching yet somewhat diffuse purpose (Burns 2021). A further resemblance is how the Swedish farmers connect themselves to wider networks both locally and internationally to seek inspiration and knowledge exchange with like-minded individuals. Creating a space under a common agenda for reaching a regenerative system under the banner of soil health and biodiversity (Ibid). But also, important to note, as stated unanimously by all farmer interviewees when asked why they adopted regenerative practices, it gave them "freedom". This statement pairs with contemporary food sovereignty movements across the globe. The food sovereignty movement opposes the reliance on export agriculture and food imports within the dominant food system (Clapp 2020). The food sovereignty movement seeks to create an alternative local food system for farmers and communities to regain control over local food systems (Clapp 2020; Holt-Giménez & Altieri 2013). The interviewed farmers' expression of freedom comes from a similar desire to regain control over food and their farms but also in a way their livelihood and lifestyle. Seeking a state of more local sovereignty over how to produce and manage their farms.

To conclude this section, I draw attention to a statement by a respondent that regenerative agriculture "...is more of a way of thinking, and learning how to make decisions that are regenerative rather than a set of actual methods" (Farmer 1). This suggests that it contains a preponderance of a desire for challenging current paradigms in agriculture and trying to present a solution to apparent issues with how the food system currently is run by an agro-industrial agenda. The industrial food system for example is considered one of the largest contributors to climate change (Canfield et al. 2021). Duncan et al. (2021) describe a linkage between a regenerative movement and the realization for a radical systemic change in the food system is needed to reach the goals of the SDGs. Discussions in relation to SDGs and both climate change and environmental degradation is frequently seen on the forum. The creation of a more environmentally friendly way of undertaking agriculture seems to be one of the main idealistic motivators for adopting a regenerative mindset as seen above.

4.2 Challenging paradigms or not

The agricultural system today is dominated by an industrial-productivist discourse that is blamed to have contributed to the degradation of both human and ecological systems (Canfield et al. 2021; Gordon et al. 2021; Olsson 2021; Clapp 2020; Béné et al. 2019). Modern agriculture is further both heavily impacted by climate change and responsible for greenhouse gas emissions causing climate change. (Clapp 2020; McMichael 2013). Stemming from this critique different sustainability discourses is pushed for by several entities both globally and locally to transform agriculture and food systems toward mitigating climate change and creating more sustainable agriculture (Hawes et al. 2020; Béné et al. 2019; Moscatelli et al. 2016). These globally joint efforts are perhaps most clearly seen in the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of Agenda 2030 where pathways for the development of social, economic, and environmental dimensions of sustainability have been laid out (Duncan et al. 2021). Regenerative agriculture can be understood as an evolving and diverse regenerative discursive alternative to industrial-productivist agriculture (Loring 2021). As a movement, it is making claims of being a more sustainable option to the dominant industrial-productivist agriculture. It is clear in the interviews with the farmers and discussion on the forum, that the pursuit and motives behind adopting regenerative farming are about challenging how we think of sustainability and farming.

The concept of sustainability has during the last decades transformed to become somewhat of an orthodoxy for discourses in both public and private sectors (Duncan et al. 2021). Though sustainability is frequently used by many entities it is a rather ubiquitous term (Trigo et al. 2021; Béné et al. 2019; Matson et al. 2016). Therefore, when talking about sustainability in this study it adheres to the more general understanding of sustainability as a multi-dimensional concept that includes elements of social equity, human welfare, and the maintenance of natural resource bases (Duncan et al. 2021). Regenerative agriculture as shown earlier incorporates different sets of practices and ideas with the intention to move beyond the static notion of sustainability and, as the name implies, go even further to create a regenerative agricultural system (Ibid). It is in this context of sustainability and critique against the food system and modern agriculture, that regenerative agriculture is situated (Giller et al. 2021).

The foundation for the emergence of the organic farming movement stemmed from four broad social movements including various campaigns focused on alternative production technologies, health and pure food movements, the 1960s counterculture movement, and modern environmentalism (Guthman 2014). Similar but perhaps more of a contemporary version of these ideas can possibly be observed in why regenerative agriculture is growing now. On the NNRL forum in a discussion on contradictions between regenerative agriculture and organic agriculture it is stated:

I do not see it as a contradiction between the two concepts. It is excellent to be both regenerative and organic. Organic though has become something you can only call yourself if you follow the existing regulations. It is more about what you are not allowed to do, while regenerative is more about working towards a goal (to revitalize ecosystems and at the same time meet human needs). And then, as I said, you focus on results about that goal, rather than rules about what you can and cannot do. (NNRL forum member)

As discussed earlier there are similarities in ideas and practices to many other alternative agriculture movements. The alternative movements together are often seen promoting change toward more nature-oriented agriculture and focusing more on social aspects of agriculture (Sumberg 2022; Marsden et al. 2000). Often also drawing on the narrative of a failing food system (Clapp 2020). What the paraphrased quote shows is that regenerative agriculture is an idea for achieving a higher degree of sustainability or even the creation of a regenerative ecological state and it recognizes that this can be achieved in different ways. This semiotic standpoint, sustainability vs regenerative, is also found in literature and articles promoting regenerative agriculture (See Duncan et al. 2021; Ikerd 2021). Further, the quote also hints at the desire of having more sovereignty as regulations are seen as a possible hindrance that could impede the goals of regenerative agriculture. In the paraphrased quote we also see the connection to the definition of regenerative agriculture from the NNRL forum.

To enable the highest possible vitality in ecosystems, by satisfying human needs is the definition of what regenerative agriculture aims for taken from the NNRL forum. The definition points towards the desire for incorporating the human and social aspects back into agriculture but also the reconnection with nature (Cf. Sumberg 2022). Which the food system and an industrial agricultural discourse have received a fair amount of critique for not adhering (Anderson & Rivera-Ferre 2021). More clearly seen in a discussion on the forum that further develops the idea of "the regenerative system as an ecosystem vitalization agriculture which includes plants, humans, animals, economy, different social structures, and all other natural things is included in the understanding of these ecosystems" (NNRL forum member). Showing the desire for a more holistically encompassing understanding of the food system and agriculture much like food sovereignty movements (Andersson & Rivera-Ferre 2021; Clapp 2020).

On the forum, we can read statements that none can know how the actual highest possible vitality in ecosystems would manifest itself and that we all, as humans, need to take responsibility for our actions to sustain landscapes and care for the ecosystems. It is further argued in the forum that the agro-industrial mindset has distanced humans from the landscapes of agriculture and brought with it a displacement of nature (Cf. Murdoch et al. 2000). Very similar in their critique to more contemporary critical food studies (see Levkoe et al. 2021; Clapp 2020). That commonly recognizes that dominant agricultural narratives have tended to disconnect the relation between food and agriculture from the ecological base

which has led to placeless foodscapes (Andersson & Rivera-Ferre 2021; Clapp 2020; Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). This critique from the farmers correlates to the early organic agricultural movements' critique of similar events, and concerns about corporate power and agro-industrializations infringing on the family-owned and operated small-scale farm as the upholder of social justice and ecological sustainability (Guthman 2014). In the same discussion on the forum as the quote above one individual states: "food belongs to civil society, the sphere of humanity that should be completely outside the state and market" (NNRL forum member). Regenerative agriculture from the farmer's point of view is a desire to restore an ecological relation where humans are an active part of the food system once again. Claiming sovereignty over food in the critique to flaws with dominant agricultural narratives perceived promoted and run by corporate, state, and international authorities. That through policies and market conditions have produced undesirable impacts in the ecological landscapes, like the placeless foodscapes and the distortion of human relations to food.

While the idea of a regenerative agriculture system is not new (Gosnell 2021; Ikerd 2021; Merfield 2019; Rhodes 2017) and neither is the expressing need for transformation of agriculture towards more sustainability (Duncan et al. 2021; Guthman 2014; Goodman 2004). The interview with the first dairy farmer also confirmed findings on the forum of a desire for being able to have a farm that would support itself. "A farm should be able to support itself and us, not reliant on subsidies or inputs" (Farmer 1). The farmer's argument is based on a view of industrial farming systems that are depleting soils and destroying the ecological balance in the landscape in the search of maximizing profits. That further traps farmers in a for them undesirable food system where farming relies on a neverending loop of subsides and inputs. The desire to have a self-reliant farm operation is also seen in the search for *freedom* mentioned at the end of chapter 4.1. Building on the critique of agro-industrialization and corporate power dominance over food systems. Therefore, adopting regenerative agriculture can be understood as a way of trying to regain control and sovereignty over the farm and food. A desire to remove the metaphorical shackles of political and economic structures and institutions surrounding agriculture (Cf. Neumann 2005). Further, Canfield et al. (2021) point toward a growing concern about how industrial agriculture contributes to climate change and how institutions have struggled over the narrative of sustainability. The interviewees and the forum point towards similar concerns and distrust on an institutional level and of corporate powers set the stage for agriculture and sustainable development. Clearly in contrast to the freedom ideas nested in the farmer's interpretation of regenerative ideals. As regenerative agriculture draws on socio-ecological and cultural contexts in which local knowledge is fundamental, and which proponents of industrial agriculture have critiqued for being backwards

and anti-science (Andersson & Rivera-Ferre 2021). Potentially further inciting tension between the different actors.

"We label our honey organic, but we are not certified, it is organically produced in the sense of how we keep the bees... it is our way of a sort of rebellion" (Farmer 3 & 4). The quote comes from an interview with two farmers regarding agricultural methods and certifications. Tending on one of the smaller farms in this study they used a wide range of different agricultural practices. Ranging from agroforestryinspired approaches in how they managed the lands to permaculture management of their gardens. Another of the interviewees showed similar use of a wide range of practices. This correlates with the central idea of regenerative agriculture of trying to know your lands and adapt practices accordingly that suites the local contextuality (Burns 2021; Merfield 2019). It also points towards the ideological side of regenerative agriculture. Where it rather should be treated as a regenerative mindset on how to tend the farm where practitioners adopt certain methods and practices in achieving enrichment of soils and increased biodiversity. Seeking to achieve a sort of ecological balance for all components, including humans, contributing to the farm (Anderson & Rivera-Ferre 2021). Understanding regenerative agriculture as a set of regenerative principles makes concepts such as conventional or organic uninteresting as it is explained in a discussion on the forum: "... concepts such as ecologically or conventionally are uninteresting. The question (what practices to be used) is to what extent it is customary following the principles of regenerative agriculture" (NNRL forum member). This also points back to the critique of organic agriculture as being more about rules for what you are allowed and not allowed to do (Guthman 2014). There is a desire from the farmers not wanting to conform to rules and regulations or be told what and what not to do. Implying again the notion of freedom and a lack of trust towards state and corporate regulations being implemented on agriculture, and regenerative agriculture potentially in the long run.

Though, not fully without contradiction, it is possible of being certified organic or manage a conventional farming enterprise and call yourself a regenerative farmer. Perhaps much due to the unregulated state of regenerative agriculture. It is expressed on the forum that "both conventional and organic systems can be regenerative" (NNRL forum member). Also visible in the case of the first interview where the production was organic and KRAV certified. While this particular farmer stated that he did not use regenerative as a selling concept it was rather a compliment agriculture system for how he maintained his farming operation. On the forum it is said that "organic farming has dismissed two, rather misunderstood and misused, inputs, being commercial fertilizers and chemical pesticides" (NNRL forum member). This is backed by once again stating the importance of results rather than the actual methods for achieving regenerative outcomes such as increasing biodiversity, soil health, and ecological resilience. Seemingly

regenerative agriculture is very diverse in terms of how the individual farmer can manage their farm. Though consensus on this point is rather contested in itself. As described in a quote from one of the interviews "I know of this farmer who has a large farm, producing mostly grains and who uses regenerative methods but also sprays his fields with chemical pesticides, and I wonder how regenerative that is actually?" (Farmer 3). What this shows is a tension between different ideas of what constitutes as regenerative agriculture. Similar to the tension within organic agriculture of viewing it as a more ecologically benign approach to agriculture and those promoting a more radical change of a hegemonic food system (Guthman 2014).

In summary, as we have seen in the above chapters regenerative agriculture is understood as a rather multi-faceted concept. There is an idea that" ... regenerative agriculture needs to be diverse" (Farmer 2), but also clear notions embedded in a critique against a food system and agricultural models that are seen as failing to address certain issues. Seen both in the literature (See Burns 2021; Duncan et al. 2019; Gosnell 2019 etc.) and visible in the data from the interviews and forum. Perhaps concepts like regenerative with the plurality of characteristics are what inspire practitioners to feel like they are enabled to do something different in response to the viewed flaws with the current state of agriculture (Cf. Loring 2021). Opening a space for a grassroots movement, such as regenerative is understood by many of its practitioners, to challenge what is perceived as dominant paradigms (Burns 2021; Loring 2021; Gosnell 2019). The empirical data shows a discontent amongst the farmers with how things are being done. Where they portray regenerative agriculture as an alternative approach to agriculture and very much as a solution to the sustainability challenges of agriculture. Drawing on a sort of countermovement narrative towards industrial agriculture, which is perceived as sort of an adversary to the activities and imaginaries of restoring and enhancing ecosystems (Andersson & Rivera-Ferre 2021). The central point for the farmers in this study is the understanding of regenerative as a mindset as some of the academic literature also confirms (See Ikerd 2021, White 2020; Merfield 2019). Whether intentionally or not, pressing on that regenerative is a mindset and an openmindedness towards practices and methods can also be a way of keeping control of the concept. Specific practices and methods are wanted by corporate and state interests (Newton et al. 2020) as they are more easily conformed to frameworks and/or certification. Due to them being more clearly measured in terms of their effectiveness than ideals and goals. But the question remains as to whether proclaiming to challenge paradigms and the more radical desires for change of food systems is achievable. Given how economic and spatial power is understood as concentrated in a corporate and institutionalized dominance over the food sector (Goodman et al. 2013; McMichael 2009).

4.3 Fear of assimilation

In the interviews and seen on the forum the growing interest from external actors in regenerative agriculture is viewed with caution. There is an idea of regenerative agriculture as a grassroot and a farmer-led movement for creating something beyond sustainability. The growing interest in regenerative agriculture creates tension as many of the external actors are recognized as part of the food system paradigm regenerative proponents are claiming to challenge. The growing interest from external actors in regenerative agriculture is therefore articulated with a sort of cautious distrust.

Corporate dominance over the food system is argued to have been growing through neo-liberal agendas in the past decades (Holt-Giménez & Altieri 2013; McMichael 2009). Transnational corporations have further become key actors in the social-ecological transformation and sustainable development field today (Folke et al. 2019). Together with the increase of 'value-added' activities being conducted within the processing and packaging phase of raw materials and food products has further increased corporate control over the food system (Clapp 2020; Ericksen 2008). This development has led to farming no longer being the dominant economic activity in the food system and redirected more power towards corporate and market control (Canfield et al. 2021; Clapp 2020; Ericksen 2008). Going back to earlier statements and the expressed desire from the farmers to have a farm that sustains itself, not only, economically this development is far from perfect in their perspective. In an article by Canfield et al. (2021) addressing the United Nations Food System Summit, they argue that multinational corporations and philanthropies amongst others are trying to capture the global narrative of food system transformation. In an effort to undermine the democratic arena to maintain corporate control of the food system governance (Canfield et al. 2021). While Canfield et al. (2021) argue that this is undermining social movements' efforts toward food sovereignty similar concerns are visible amongst the farmers. There are several statements expressing a sort of fear from the farmer community that the commercialization of regenerative agriculture could happen due to external actors making regenerative claims and trying to define it to their own agendas. Statements ranging from in the interviews "They (corporate and state actors) are cutting down grassroots initiatives in order to claim EU funds... we work with regenerative and do not need an absolute definition" (Farmer 1), to statements from the forum like:

...the grassroots are often lost if the certification comes from a person in power. It is a question of thinking about how to balance and whether it is those who do the work that actually should set certifications. To preserve and improve and maintain your own confidence by being certified, enjoying the results yourself, upholding principles, and being loyal to your customers and community. (NNRL forum member)

From a farmer's perspective, the core for pursuing regenerative agriculture is partly, as seen earlier, the idea of creating something beyond sustainable and addressing flaws created by industrial agriculture and the flaws with the food system. Regenerative narratives seem to have an embedded critique against industrialization and corporate dominance in the food sector (Andersson & Rivera-Ferre 2021). Further, this is also similar to the critique of contemporary agrarian populism towards the role of big science and corporate dominance, which also is described to have an embedded suspicion of state intervention (Guthman 2014). Organic agriculture back in the 1960s and 1970s proclaimed similar radical ideas, not saying it advocates still does not, that can be found in the regenerative movement of today. The organic farming movement voiced for a transformation and the creation of a new society that would be more sustainable and more interconnected with ecological and social realities (Robson 2020; Guthman 2014). These types of transformational ideas are seen on the forum in a discussion on the aim of regenerative agriculture:

The NNRL definition of Regenerative agriculture is well explained in that it aims for going a step further than ever before. We are improving and developing the situation more than ever. Implementing agriculture-revitalizing ecosystems in which plants, humans, other animals, economies, and other social structures, are all part of included in these natural ecosystems. (NNRL forum member)

Guthman's Agrarian Dreams (2014) shows that rather paradoxically the dynamics of industrial agriculture more or less have incorporated organic agriculture and that the aims of transforming social realities never were achieved. In the search for institutional legitimacy and regulation in the early days of organic agriculture, the more radical philosophies were sacrificed (Guthman 2014). The broader countercultural philosophies were suppressed as organic agriculture was narrowed down to technical terms and focused on allowable inputs (Ibid). Such as minimizing the importance of agroecology perspectives in favor of a focus on allowable inputs (Ibid). Resulting in organic agriculture becoming conditional through legal definitions governed by private and state institutions (Ibid). Guthman (2014) argues that the codification of regulations and legal frameworks that came to govern organic agriculture resulted in implications for how organic practices have developed. This process resulted in the incorporation of the organic agricultural movement into what would become an organic agricultural industry (Guthman 2014; Guthman 2004). Hence, it never changed the realities of society as was once intended as it got assimilated by the system it was criticizing. While not talking explicitly concerning organic agriculture, in a discussion on the forum about the future of regenerative agriculture and how corporate and state interest would affect regenerative agriculture one member states that

...what you are describing is that the establishment now, through a subsidization route, are trying to control the concept of Regenerative. This means trying to create hegemony. This will probably disarm the movement, among other things, through mechanical thinking and by creating and formalization of privileges. (NNRL forum member)

The paraphrased quote shows what I term as the fear of having *their*, the regenerative agricultural movement, taken from them. This fear is strikingly similar to how the success story of organic agriculture resulted in the undermining of the more progressive goals it was trying to achieve (Guthman 2014).

The formalization and regulation process of the organic movement was a way of legitimizing and building trust in the concept of organic, which among other things was key to ensuring that producers were paid a premium price for these products (Guthman 2014). For regenerative agriculture, the framework developed by Svenskt Sigill mentioned above is about creating legitimacy in the eyes of consumers and a more unified foundation for what constitutes regenerative agriculture to protect it. Thus, raising the question of who creates the frames for what constitutes regenerative agriculture. Inevitably with more actors entering the discursive arena of regenerative agriculture and where due to the structure of outcomes there will be winners at the expense of losers (Robbins 2020). As to the fundamental understanding of political ecology that there is a political dimension to socio-ecological systems where our knowledge is created and shaped by political and economic processes (Forsyth 2003). The farmers seemingly fear that their more progressive desires for socio-ecological change might be toned down, as in the case described of organic agriculture (Guthman 2014). One interviewed farmer said that "...with certifications comes also administrative rules and payments which for our small-scale farm just is too much to handle" (Farmer 4). Similar processes have been shown by Guthman (2014) in the case of organic agriculture. Guthman's (2014) study of organic agriculture in the US showed how the regulatory mechanisms for organic agriculture influenced the structure and the modes of production that were possible, and how organic farming practices became dependent on this institutionalization. This is an interesting comparison because regenerative agriculture, being in an open moment, could be seen as being in the same position today as organic agriculture was twenty or fifty years ago. It shares many common grounds in its critique of contemporary agriculture and in the more underlying progressive ideals of changing how we perceive agriculture and the desire for the transformation of food systems. The many challenges presented by scholars of food and agriculture regarding how the food system is failing us might not only be narrative or conceptual in its causes but how we talk of and frame such challenges will affect the way they are understood and how solutions for problems are constituted (Duncan et al. 2021; Robbins 2020). Regenerative agriculture proponents have also pointed towards a disparity in academic and policy interest for focusing too much on a scientific need for and value of regenerative agriculture

at the expense of an understanding of the social and human perceived values of regenerative agriculture (Burns 2021; Raven 2020).

In a thread on the forum where explicit concerns about how corporate and state intervention can affect regenerative agriculture, partly jokingly, it is suggested that perhaps regenerative agriculture as a concept has already passed its best before date. The following quote is from an answer to the statement of having passed the best before date:

I can only agree. However, I do not think the solution is to find another new concept that can be co-opted or abused. As with all concepts, ideas, or trends that gain some kind of attraction eventually will be absorbed by the market and adapted to it. (NNRL forum member)

In the last quote of section 4.2, the interviewed farmer said that regenerative agriculture needs to be diverse. The idea of the need for keeping regenerative agriculture diverse can also be seen expressed on the forum: "I also do not think that the solution is to come up with a certified concept with strict rules" (NNRL forum member). This further can be linked to the farmers' desires of being free, which with external actors making regenerative claims and upcoming frameworks inevitably is perceived as possibly taking this freedom from the farmers in the long run. As discussed earlier is that many farmers perceive regenerative agriculture as something more than just a farming system. It seemingly has a lot of embedded ideals and values tied to the social realities of the farmers. There is a clear caution and skepticism towards what is seen as external actors from the farmers in the data. Sharing common grounds in similar critique coming from the organic movement that technology and science have been appropriated by state and agri-corporations (Guthman 2014). This appropriation has led to a technical approach to environmental problems (Ibid), that does not adhere to the more socially equitable, culturally diverse, and spiritually meaningful aspects of regenerative agriculture (See Gosnell 2021; Lal 2020). Whether or not an appropriation by external actors of regenerative agriculture would happen it would not only be of a farming system but the farmers' social realities and philosophies that would then be perceived as under attack. Seen summed up in a Swedish expression taken from the NNRL forum "if you give them your pinkie, they soon will take your whole hand" (NNRL forum member) implying that if they give in to external actors, they soon will lose their whole movement.

5. Conclusion

What this study has aimed to do is to adhere to Forsyth's (2003) idea of integrating a critical political ecology perspective on current food research, by adopting a more politically aware understanding of the contexts and geographies of regenerative agriculture (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). The critical political ecology perspective intent in this study has been to use the metaphorical axe (Robbins 2020), to address the separation of sciences and politics (Forsyth 2003). This approach is appropriate as regenerative agriculture is understood as a part of an alternative agricultural network and a social movement that indeed is political in its context. The farmers who I interviewed in this study are seen engaging in different political arenas, arguing for their beliefs and a change of how food systems should work. They presented what can be interpreted as a discursive change toward a more holistic understanding of the food system that incorporates the complex character of food systems (Cf. Gordon et al. 2021; Stefanovic et al. 2020), promoting an agricultural transformation in creating a more sustainable, and beyond, agriculture and food systems (Cf. Gordon et al. 2021). Where the farmers are seen engaging in regenerative agriculture largely based on environmental and lifestyle ambitions connected to sustainability narratives. This transformation is further situated within specific agro-ecological contexts of discursive and semiotic production, where meaningful discourses and politicized outcomes of sustainability and agriculture are constructed (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). That shapes how ideas of agriculture and society emerge and change (Ibid).

5.1 The motives and ideals

While there is certainly further interesting research that can be done in this emerging field of regenerative agriculture this study has maintained a focus on two research questions. Firstly, though not extensively, the study focused on how the farmers talk of and understand regenerative agriculture. This is important for the understanding of why people do what they do. As language is a constitutive and constituted form of power that ultimately shapes and determines how individuals create and understand reality and social identities (Wodak & Meyer 2009). Thus, by addressing the language we can get closer to understanding why they are trying to achieve something by making claims about challenging dominant paradigms

found in other studies such as Gosnell (2021). The ideals and beliefs of the general regenerative movement seemingly promote enhancement and restoration of resilient ecosystem processes (See Newton et al. 2020; Gosnell et al. 2019), yet the data shows it is thus far more of an attitude rather than a well-defined method according to the practitioners. That aims to restore and improve ecological resilience while also incorporating social equity and social-ecological causes in line with findings from Raven (2020) and White (2020).

The data further reveals a desire from the farmers to reconnect with the lands and nature not only physically but also emotionally and spiritually (Cf. Sumberg 2022). Combined with a strong sense of stewardship over the lands they tend to. This is much like the newer iterations of agrarianism and AFNs, where earlier research has shown that there is an idea that those who tend to the lands, often implying small-scale farmers, are those who have a long-term interest in managing the land sustainably (Guthman 2014; Goodman 2004). There are also interesting links between the more progressive ideals and a sort of back-to-nature narrative embedded in regenerative agriculture. That also can be interpreted in the interviewed farmers' stories that connect to other types of contemporary countercultural movements such as the back-to-the-land movement. Seen in the promotion of a more active engagement in the land and sustainable food production to knowledge exchange on an international level with like-minded individuals (Cf. Halfacree 2007). Only time can tell if the more radical and progressive ideals presented by the farmers will prevail, though there seems to be a fair amount of enthusiasm for the cause.

5.2 Consequences of intervening actors

The second topic this study covered through empirical analysis was how the farmers viewed the growing interest in regenerative agriculture by external actors outside of the farmer community. Drawing upon Guthman's (2014) comprehensive studies on organic agriculture, we can see that many of the initially expressed desires for change and progressive ideals surrounding organic agriculture paradoxically have had the opposite effect. The lesson is that depending on who frames what practices are important to alternative food networks can also marginalize certain social elements (Moragues-Faus & Marsden 2017). Further, global market forces are also often subject to both resistance and facilitation from local actors who try to engage with them according to their own values and agendas (Tsing 2005). Regenerative agriculture proponents and the farmers interviewed in this study are no exception as they are trying to navigate the political arenas of complex food systems and the market. Using the 'open moment', as do the external actors, that regenerative agriculture currently is in to actively negotiate and define parameters of practices

to be in line with an overarching desire for transformation to ultimately make agriculture more sustainable.

The farmers further describe a distrustful relationship towards corporate and state agendas. There are also certain signs in the data of different levels and scales of more radical and revolutionary anti-establishment statements, which probably further prompts tension between some farmers toward corporation and state agendas. What this shows is why it is important to understand that although we talk about and perceive regenerative agriculture as a sort of movement or one cause, regenerative agriculture consists of diverse individuals. Even though they may be joined under a common regenerative agenda, individuals will have differences in motives and ideals as to why they are pursuing regenerative agriculture. Groups and movements such as a regenerative movement are made up of individuals that often have divergent beliefs and interests that affect how they understand and foster socio-ecological change (See Roberts 2020). This further affects the scales of the resistance and the foundations of distrust towards specific institutions.

Regenerative agriculture and other types of AFNs operate within neo-liberal spaces where social reproduction and dissemination of their values occur (Misleh 2022; Goodman et al. 2013). Thus, this space acts as a conditioning and delineating factor of alternativeness that affects the politics of possibilities and the viability of solutions for market-embedded social movements (Goodman et al. 2013). Though there are notions in the data that can be interpreted as challenging hegemonic discourses, it is also a potential to read between the lines and focus on the differences instead in the regenerative alternative framings. This would allow for addressing the issue of the term alternative as something inevitably opposing another thing and therefore also unavoidably highlights power relations (Misleh 2022). Trying instead to view regenerative agriculture as something not on a black and white scale in terms of power and hegemony. By not separating the different dimensions of socio-ecological and socio-cultural factors, agency and structuration of AFNs (Ibid). Instead focus on how the desire for socio-ecological change and alternativeness incorporated in the regenerative ideals can serve as a guide for a more socially fair and socio-economic contribution, to a sustainable transformation of agriculture more in line with the regenerative ideals instead of it as something opposing another. While it is also advocated for an urgent transformation of agriculture, regenerative supporters ask the question of if we have time to wait for knowing what the best way is. This time could afford regenerative farmers the opportunity to experiment with what works for their lands, allowing regenerative agriculture to develop as a farmer-led initiative. As actors will draw upon and interpret and enact sustainability narratives according to their own values and agendas. This slower, more deliberate version of regenerative agriculture would be more in line with what my respondents discussed in terms of the importance of finding what works for them.

5.3 What does this all mean

There are clear notions of an intention and desire of wanting change in the empirical data as to how regenerative agriculture can contribute to a more sustainable food system. While institutions and corporate powers are regarded, not said that they come with bad intent, trying to conform the movement with regulations and frameworks that could impede the sustainability development of a pure farmer-led regenerative agriculture (See Taylor 2018; Guthman 2004). Therefore, to retain the more embedded progressive ideals of regenerative agriculture one would have to be careful in the development of regenerative frameworks, as it has been shown to be something more to the practitioners than just a farming system. Interestingly but partly beyond the scope of this study corporate actors and institutions also seemingly conform themselves and adapt to more regenerative discourses in terms of sustainability. As seen in the growing interest and regenerative claims by many of the large corporations. Only to be met by a community of farmers seemingly seeing their ideals and values as being co-opted and perceived as an attack on autonomous freedom and their way of life. While frameworks certainly can help in guiding and protecting the technicalities of regenerative agriculture the question is if it is possible to create a framework that incorporates the lifestyles of these individuals?

What this study has aimed to do is to raise the issue of whose voice counts in this rather complicated arena of politics, narratives, and discourses surrounding regenerative agriculture and food systems. It raises an important question that remains to be examined, as regenerative agriculture matures, which therefore is whether and how it can retain its progressive ideals. As many other alternatives seemingly have failed with retaining these specifically and have not reached the proposed changes to the desired level. Will the farmers who I interviewed for this study be able to maintain the freedom to experiment with claimed fundamentally different mindsets about agriculture? Or will their capacities to decide their future be constrained under the weight of a neoliberal global food system, where competition with other farmers and pressure from retailers force them to adopt practices that they do not believe are conducive to regenerating their land? Considering how regenerative agriculture is evolving and if the claims of it being a solution to the challenges of agriculture and food systems, rather than just a reframing of existing approaches (Giller et al. 2021), will lead to a more sustainable agriculture practice and bring forth the desired socio-ecological change.

References

- Al-Kaisi, M.M. & Lal, R. (2020). Aligning science and policy of regenerative agriculture. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 84 (6), 1808–1820. https://doi.org/10.1002/saj2.20162
- Altheide, D. L. & Schneider C. J. (2013). *Qualitative Media Analysis*. 2nd ed. London: SAGE Publications. Available at: https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781452270043 [2022-05-10].
- Anderson, M.D. & Rivera-Ferre, M. (2021). Food system narratives to end hunger: extractive versus regenerative. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, Vol. 49, pp. 18-25, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2020.12.002
- Béné, C., Oosterveer, P., Lamotte, L., Brouwer, I.D., de Haan, S., Prager, S.D., Talsma, E.F. & Khoury, C.K. (2019). When food systems meet sustainability Current narratives and implications for actions. *World Development*, 113, 116–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.08.011
- Bergström, G. & Boréus, K. (2012). *Textens mening och makt: metodbok i samhällsvetenskaplig text- och diskursanalys*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Bhutta, C.B. (2010). Not by the Book: Facebook as a Sampling Frame. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1721162
- Bryman, A. (2018). Samhällsvetenskapliga metoder. 3d. ed. Malmö: Liber.
- Burns, E.A. (2021). Regenerative Agriculture: farmer motivation, environment, and climate improvement. *Policy Quarterly*, 17 (3). https://doi.org/10.26686/pq.v17i3.7133
- Canfield, M., Anderson, M.D. & McMichael, P. (2021). UN Food Systems Summit 2021: Dismantling Democracy and Resetting Corporate Control of Food Systems. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5, 661552. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.661552
- Chandra, A., McNamara, K.E. & Dargusch, P. (2018). Climate-smart agriculture: perspectives and framings. *Climate Policy*, 18 (4), 526–541. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2017.1316968
- Clapp, J. (2020). Food. 3rd ed. Cambridge: Polity Press
- Creswell, J.W. & Creswell, J.D. (2018). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. 5th ed. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications
- Duncan, J., Carolan, M.S. & Wiskerke, J.S.C. (2021). Regenerating food systems: A social-ecological approach. In: Duncan, J., Wiskerke, J.S.C. & Carolan, M.S. (eds.) *Routledge handbook of sustainable and regenerative food systems*. London; New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. 1-11.

- Eakin, H., Connors, J.P., Wharton, C., Bertmann, F., Xiong, A. & Stoltzfus, J. (2017). Identifying attributes of food system sustainability: emerging themes and consensus. *Agriculture and Human Values*, 34, pp.757–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-016-9754-8
- Elevitch, C., Mazaroli, D. & Ragone, D. (2018). Agroforestry Standards for Regenerative Agriculture. *Sustainability*, 10 (9), 3337. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10093337
- Ericksen, P.J. (2008). Conceptualizing food systems for global environmental change research. *Global Environmental Change*, 18 (1), 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2007.09.002
- Evans, K. (2020). Regenerative agriculture. *New Zealand Geographic*, 164, pp.36–59 Fairclough N. (2013). *Critical discourse analysis: the critical study of language*. 2nd ec
- Fairclough, N. (2013). *Critical discourse analysis: the critical study of language*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge.
- Folke, C., Österblom, H., Jouffray, JB., Lambin, EF., Adger, WN., Scheffer, M., Crona, BI., Nyström, M., Levin, SA., Carpenter, SR., Anderies, JM., Chapin, S., Crépin, AS., Dauriach, A., Galaz, V., Gordon, LJ., Kautsky, N., Walker, BH., Watson, JR., Wilen, J. & de Zeeuw, A. (2019). Transnational corporations and the challenge of biosphere stewardship. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, vol. 3, no. 10, pp. 1396-1403. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0978-z
- Foran, T., Butler, R.A., Williams, L.J., Wanjura, W.J., Hall, A., Carter, L., Carberry, P. (2014). Taking complexity in food systems seriously: an interdisciplinary analysis. *World Development*, 61 (2014), pp. 85-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.03.023
- Forsyth, T. (2003). *Critical political ecology: the politics of environmental science*. London; New York: Routledge.
- Galt, R.E. (2013). Placing Food Systems in First World Political Ecology: A Review and Research Agenda. *Geography Compass*, 7 (9), 637–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12070
- Giller, K.E., Hijbeek, R., Andersson, J.A. & Sumberg, J. (2021). Regenerative Agriculture: An agronomic perspective. *Outlook on Agriculture*, 50 (1), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0030727021998063
- Geertz, C. (1973). *The interpretation of cultures: selected essays*. New York: Basic Books
- Goodman, D. (2004). Rural Europe Redux? Reflections on Alternative Agro-Food Networks and Paradigm Change. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 44 (1), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9523.2004.00258.x
- Goodman, D., DuPuis, E. M., & K. Goodman, M. (2013). Engaging Alternative Food Networks: Commentaries and Research Agendas. *The International Journal of Sociology of Agriculture and Food*. Paris, France, 20(3), 425–431. doi: 10.48416/ijsaf.v20i3.184.
- Gordon, E., Davila, F. & Riedy, C. (2021). Transforming landscapes and mindscapes through regenerative agriculture. *Agriculture and Human Values*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-021-10276-0
- Gosnell, H., Gill, N. & Voyer, M. (2019). Transformational adaptation on the farm: Processes of change and persistence in transitions to "climate-smart"

- regenerative agriculture. *Global Environmental Change*, 59:101965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.101965
- Gosnell, H., Grimm, K. & Goldstein, B. (2020). A half century of Holistic Management: What does the evidence reveal? *Agriculture and Human Values*, 37(3):849–867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10016-w
- Gosnell, H. (2021). Regenerating soil, regenerating soul: an integral approach to understanding agricultural transformation. *Sustainability Science*, 17, 603-620. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-021-00993-0
- Guthman, J. (2004). Back to the Land: The Paradox of Organic Food Standards. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 36(3), pp. 511–528. doi: 10.1068/a36104.
- Guthman, J. (2014). *Agrarian dreams: the paradox of organic farming in California*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Halfacree, K. (2007). Back-to-the-land in the twenty-first century making connections with rurality. *Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie*, 98 (1), pp. 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9663.2007.00371.x
- Hawes, C., Iannetta, P., & Squire. G. (2021). Agroecological practices for whole-system sustainability. CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources, 16 (005). https://doi.org/10.1079/PAVSNNR202116005
- Holt-Giménez, E. & Altieri, M. (2013). Agroecology, Food Sovereignty, and the New Green Revolution. Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 37:1, 90-102, DOI: 10.1080/10440046.2012.716388
- Ikerd, J. (2021). The Economic Pamphleteer: Realities of regenerative agriculture. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development,* 10(2), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2021.102.001
- Jorgensen, M.W. & Phillips, L. (2002). *Discourse Analysis as Theory and Method*. London: SAGE Publications.
- Kaijser, L. & Öhlander, M. (2011). *Etnologiskt fältarbete*. 2nd ed. Lund: Studentlitteratur Kozinets, R. (2020). *Netnography: the essential guide to qualitative social media research*. 3rd ed. SAGE London.
- Kvale, S. & Brinkmann, S. (2014). *Den kvalitativa forskningsintervjun*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- LaCanne, C. E., & Lundgren, J. G. (2018). Regenerative agriculture: merging farming and natural resource conservation profitably. *PeerJ*, 6, e4428. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4428
- Lal, R. (2020). Regenerative agriculture for food and climate. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 75 (5), 123A-124A. https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.2020.0620A
- Levkoe C.Z., Moragues-Faus, A. & Duncan, J. (2021). A political economy for regenerative food systems: Towards an integrated research agenda. In: Duncan, J., Wiskerke, J.S.C. & Carolan, M.S. (eds.) Routledge handbook of sustainable and regenerative food systems. London; New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. 12-25.

- Loring, P.A. (2021). Regenerative food systems and the conservation of change. *Agriculture and Human Values*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-021-10282-2
- Marsden, T., Banks, J. and Bristow, G. (2000). Food Supply Chain Approaches: Exploring their Role in Rural Development. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 40: 424-438. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9523.00158
- Massy, C. (2017). *Call of the reed warbler: a new agriculture a new Earth*. St. Lucia, Qld: University of Queensland Press.
- Matson, P. A., Clark, W.C. & Andersson, K. (2016). *Pursuing sustainability: a guide to the science and practice*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey
- McMichael, P. (2009). A food regime genealogy. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 36 (1), pp. 139–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150902820354
- McMichael, P. (2013). *Food regimes and agrarian questions*. Halifax: Fernwood Publishing
- McMichael, P. (2017). *Development and social change: a global perspective*. 6th ed. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications
- Merfield, C. N. (2019). *An analysis and overview of regenerative agriculture*. Report number 2-2019. The BHU Future Farming Centre, Lincoln, New Zealand.
- Misleh, D. (2022). Moving beyond the impasse in geographies of 'alternative' food networks. *Progress in Human Geography*. doi: 10.1177/03091325221095835.
- Montgomery, D.R. (2018). Growing a revolution: bringing our soil back to life. New York London: W. W. Norton & Company
- Moragues-Faus, A. & Marsden, T. (2017). The political ecology of food: Carving 'spaces of possibility' in a new research agenda. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 55, 275–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2017.08.016
- Moscatelli, S., El Bilali, H., Gamboni, M., & Capone, R. (2016). Towards sustainable food systems: a holistic, interdisciplinary and systemic approach. *Int. J. AgroFor* 1, 103–112. doi: 10.7251/AGRENG1601103M
- Murdoch, J., Marsden, T., & Banks, J. (2000). Quality, Nature, and Embeddedness: Some Theoretical Considerations in the Context of the Food Sector. *Economic Geography*, 76(2), 107–125. https://doi.org/10.2307/144549
- Neumann, R. (2005). *Making Political Ecology*. Abingdon, Oxon: Taylor & Francis Group. Available at: ProQuest Ebook Central. [2022-04-11].
- Newton, P., Civita, N., Frankel-Goldwater, L., Bartel, K. & Johns, C. (2020). What Is Regenerative Agriculture? A Review of Scholar and Practitioner Definitions Based on Processes and Outcomes. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 4, 577723. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.577723
- Olsson, L (2021). Politics of Soils and Agriculture in a Warming World. In: Dent, D. & Boincean, B. (eds) *Regenerative agriculture: what's missing? What do we still need to know?* Cham: Springer Nature.
- Ranganathan, J., Waite, R., Searchinger, T & Zionts, J. (2020). *Regenerative Agriculture: Good for Soil Health, but Limited Potential to Mitigate Climate Change.*Available at: https://www.wri.org/blog/2020/05/regenerative-agriculture-climate-change. [2022-05-10].

- Raven, M.R. (2020). Regenerative agriculture and implications for agriculture, food, and natural resources education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 61 (1), pp.1–12, https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2020.01001
- Rhodes, C.J. (2017). The Imperative for Regenerative Agriculture. *Science Progress*, 100 (1), 80–129. https://doi.org/10.3184/003685017X14876775256165
- Regenerative Organic Alliance. (2022). Available at: https://regenorganic.org/ [2022-02-10].
- Regenerative Organic Alliance. (2021). *Regenerative Organic Certified*. Available at: https://regenorganic.org/ [2022-02-10].
- Robbins, P. (2020). *Political ecology: a critical introduction*. 3rd ed. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Roberts, J. (2020). Political Ecology. In: Stein, F., Lazar, S., Candea, M., Diemberger, H., Robbins, J., Sanchez A. & Stasch, R. (eds) *The Cambridge Encyclopaedia of Anthropology*. 1-17. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/344461446_Political_Ecology [2022-04-17].
- Robson, C. & McCartan, K. (2016). Real world research: a resource for users of social research methods in applied settings. 4th ed. Hoboken: Wiley.
- Rodale Institute. (2014). *Regenerative organic agriculture and climate change*. Available at:http://rodaleinstitute.org/assets/RegenOrgAgricultureAndClimateChange_201 40418.pdf [2022-02-10].
- Rockström, J., Edenhofer, O., Gaertner, J. & DeClerck, F. (2020). Planet-proofing the global food system. *Nature Food*, 1 (1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-019-0010-4
- Sampson, R. N. (1982). Saving agricultural land: environmental issue of the 1980's. *Environmentalist* 2, 321–332. doi: 10.1007/BF02603089
- Savory Institute. (2021). *Ecological Outcome Verified (EOV) Version 3.0*. Available at: https://savory.global/land-to-market/eov/ [2022-02-10].
- Savory Institute. (2022). *Savory Institute*. Available at: https://savory.global/ [2022-02-10].
- Schreefel, L., Schulte, R.P.O., de Boer, I.J.M., Schrijver, A.P. & van Zanten, H.H.E. (2020). Regenerative agriculture the soil is the base. *Global Food Security*, 26, 100404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100404
- Sigill Kvalitetssystem AB (2021). *Regenerativt jordbruk*. Available at: https://www.sigill.se/regenerativt-jordbruk/ [2022-02-21].
- Stefanovic, L., Freytag-Leyer, B. & Kahl, J. (2020). Food System Outcomes: An Overview and the Contribution to Food Systems Transformation. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 4, 546167. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.546167
- Svenskt Sigill. (2022). *Nytt initiativ ska definiera vad regenerativt lantbruk innebär under nordiska förhållanden*. Available at:

 https://www.mynewsdesk.com/se/svensktsigill/pressreleases/nytt-initiativ-ska-definiera-vad-regenerativt-lantbruk-innebaer-under-nordiska-foerhaallanden-3158335?fbclid=IwAR0Plokg9BL7sNntOTgNVQf7fby9AsH399gZlfFk8G6iCglzQDWnUdAyKLk [2022-02-21].

- Sugiura, L. (2016). Researching online forums. *BSA Ethics Case Study | 1*. Available at: https://www.britsoc.co.uk/media/24834/j000208_researching_online_forums_cs1-_v3.pdf [2022-04-11].
- Sugiura, L., Wiles, R. & Pope, C. (2017). Ethical challenges in online research: Public/private perceptions. *Research Ethics*, 13(3–4), pp. 184–199. doi: 10.1177/1747016116650720.
- Sumberg, J. (2022). Future agricultures: The promise and pitfalls of a (re)turn to nature. *Outlook on Agriculture*, 003072702210780. https://doi.org/10.1177/00307270221078027
- Tayleur, C., Balmford, A., Buchanan, G. M., Butchart, S. H. M., Ducharme, H., & Green, R. E., Milder, J. C., Sanderson, F., Thomas, D., Vickery, J. & Phalan, B. (2017).
 Global coverage of agricultural sustainability standards, and their role in conserving biodiversity. *Conservation Letters*, 10, 610–618.
 doi:10.1111/conl.12314
- Taylor, M. (2018). Climate-smart agriculture: what is it good for? *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 45 (1), 89–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2017.1312355
- Trigo A., Marta-Costa, A. & Fragoso, R. (2021). Principles of Sustainable Agriculture: Defining Standardized Reference Points. Sustainability 13(8). MDPI AG: 4086. DOI: 10.3390/su13084086
- Wilbur, A. (2013). Growing a Radical Ruralism: Back-to-the-Land as Practice and Ideal. *Geography Compass*, 7: 149-160. doi:10.1111/gec3.12023
- Wilbur, A. (2014). Cultivating back-to-the-landers. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 54: 167-185. doi:10.1111/soru.12024
- Watts, M. (2000). Agro-food system. In: Johnston, R. J., Gregory, D., Pratt, G. and Watts, M. (eds) *The dictionary of human geography*. Malden, Massachusetts: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 15–17.
- White, C. (2020). Why Regenerative Agriculture? *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 79 (3), 799–812. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12334
- Wodak, R. & Meyer, M. (2009). *Methods of critical discourse analysis*. 2nd ed. London; Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications
- Wolford, W. & Keene, S. (2015). Social movements. In: Perreault, T.A., Bridge, G. & McCarthy, J. (eds) *The Routledge handbook of political ecology*. London; New York, NY: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. 573-584.
- Zimmerer, K.S. & Bassett, T.J. (2012). *Political Ecology: An Integrative Approach to Geography and Environment-Development Studies*. New York: Guilford Publications.

Popular science summary

In 2021 Forbes published an article under the headline *Regenerative agriculture:* the next trend in food retailing calling regenerative agriculture the new buzzword. But why now and what is regenerative agriculture? Agriculture today is understood to be both heavily affected by climate change and responsible for large amounts of greenhouse gas emissions causing climate change. Therefore, we need to move towards more sustainable agricultural practices, and this requires new ways of thinking about agricultural knowledge and technologies. This is where regenerative agriculture comes in as a rapidly emerging contender for how we should think about and can make agriculture more sustainable.

Regenerative agriculture is not a new idea and dates back to the 1940s. It draws inspiration from old-fashioned agricultural practices that for example can include avoiding tilling soil in favor of cover crops and keeping husbandry mimicking how wild animal herds graze. Over the past five years, regenerative agriculture has seen a resurge of attention and a steadily growing number of different actors showing interest in the regenerative agricultural potential for making agriculture more sustainable. Despite this surge of interest little understanding of the underlying motives and ideals of farmers engaging in regenerative agriculture has been given. This study aims to fill this gap by exploring Swedish regenerative farmers' motives and ideals for pursuing regenerative agriculture.

As attention to regenerative agriculture has grown, so have its political dimensions. Diverse ways of framing or how regenerative agriculture is understood currently compete. Some view it more as a farmer-led movement that can correct the weaknesses of how agriculture currently is being managed. Others see it as a chance for corporations to gain further control over rural environments. In other words, regenerative agriculture has become a contested concept and is currently in an 'open moment' where its practices are actively being negotiated and its parameters defined. At stake is its potential to contribute to not only environmental sustainability but also fair rural development.

Therefore, it is important to understand that how we frame something affects how and in what way we understand something. This study takes a political ecology perspective to consider how knowledge about regenerative agriculture is created and legitimized. As these processes, and central to the political ecology perspective, is reflective of power relations and bring forth winners and loser regarding how

regenerative agriculture is ultimately realized. Specifically, this study asks who has the power to determine the future and the shape of regenerative agriculture. Empirical findings from interviews with farmers and analysis of discussions in internet forums show that too many farmers who adopted regenerative agriculture it is not only a farming system but entwined with ideological and social traits. Farmers' enthusiasm for regenerative agriculture as a way to transform agriculture to become more sustainable, is matched by suspicious and cautious views on state and corporate intervention.

The findings in this study highlight the rather understudied farmer's point of view of regenerative agriculture. Farmer perceptions are important for external actors to understand for implementing frameworks and certifications successfully. More generally, the thesis further provides an understanding of how sustainability initiatives emerge through a combination of land managers, grassroots movements, and corporate actors.

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Nathan Clay for being indispensable in completing this thesis. He has given me a large amount of freedom in thinking and creating and to be able to test and try things on my own but always given me advice and listening along the way. Secondly, to all those who have been subject to me non-stop talking about regenerative agriculture and ideas about discourses and framings this spring. You have helped me a lot by listening. Finally, Lotta and Boromir. She for her patience and understanding and Boromir for forcing me to go out once in a while and trying to get me to understand that simple twigs are the joys of life.

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/.

⊠ YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance
with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.
\square NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still

be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.